

HALIFAX REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY

-and-

HALIFAX REGIONAL POLICE ASSOCIATION

Collective Agreement (April 1, 2020 - March 31, 2024)

Table of Contents

Table of Cont	tents	2
PURPOSE O	F AGREEMENT:	4
Article 1	Definitions	5
Article 2	Management Rights	6
Article 3	Recognition	6
Article 4	No Discrimination	7
Article 5	Union Security	7
Article 6	Union Dues and Check Off	7
Article 7	Hours of Work	8
Article 8	Overtime - Overtime is Mandatory not Voluntary	9
Article 9	Vacation	10
Article 10	Statutory Holiday Leave	12
Article 11	Shift Adjustment	13
Article 12	Compassionate Leave	13
Article 13	Liability Insurance	
Article 14	Group Insurance Medical Plan and Dental Plan	
Article 15	Association Leave	15
Article 16	Pre-Retirement Leave	15
Article 17	Court Time	
Article 18	Call Out is Mandatory not Voluntary	
Article 19	Call Back During Vacation	17
Article 20	Meal Hours	
Article 21	Service Pay	
Article 22	Survivor's Benefits	
Article 23	Legal Aid Protection	
Article 24	Classifications / Ranks / Civilian Employees	20
Article 25	Probationary Period	
Article 26	Training	
Article 27	Management Employee Relations	22
Article 28	Clothing and Equipment	
Article 29	Discipline/Discharge Grievance and Arbitration Procedure	
Article 30	Cadet Service	
Article 31	Acting Rank	
Article 32	Seniority	
Article 33	Transfers	
Article 34	Police Vehicles	
Article 35	Confidential Information about Employee	

Article 36	Police Act, Regulations and Departmental Orders	28
Article 37	Wages	29
Article 38	Copies of Collective Agreement	29
Article 39	Employee & Family Assistance Program Committee	29
Article 40	Shift Differential	29
Article 41	Occupational Health & Safety Committee	29
Article 42	Standby	30
Article 43	Sick leave	30
Article 44	Injury Leave Sworn Officers	31
Article 45	Pregnancy, Parental, Adoption Leave	35
Article 46	Expenses	38
Article 47	Funeral Expenses	38
Article 48	Succession Plan Severance for Police Officers	38
Article 49	Assisting Other Police Agencies	39
Article 50	Pensions	39
Article 51	Promotions	40
Article 52	Contracting Out	40
Article 53	Police Reserves	41
Article 54	Part Time Emergency Response Communicators & Part-time Booking Officers	42
Article 55	Extra Duty	44
Article 56	Discretionary Leave	44
Article 57	Leave Request, Cancellation of Leave and Switching Shifts	44
Article 58	Former Dartmouth Sick Leave	45
Article 59	Watch Accommodation for Members	45
Article 60	Temporary Employees	45
Article 61	Family Emergency Leave	47
Article 62	Duration and Termination	47
Article 63	Benefit and Binding	48
Schedule A	Vacation, Holiday, and Shift Adjustment Leave Selection	49
Schedule B	Seniority List	53
Schedule C	Wages	54
Schedule D	Vacation Entitlements	70
Schedule E	Service Pay Entitlements (2020-2024)	73
Memorandum	of Agreement #1 - Job Share Pilot Project	74
Memorandum	of Agreement #2 – Sergeant Leave Selection	78
Memorandum	of Understanding - Diversity, Equity and Inclusion	79

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT made and entered into this _____ day of _____, 2022.

BETWEEN:

THE HALIFAX REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY, a body corporate, hereinafter referred to as the "REGION" or the "EMPLOYER"

- and -

THE HALIFAX REGIONAL POLICE ASSOCIATION,

a certified Trade Union under the Trade Union act of Nova Scotia, hereinafter referred to as the "UNION"

PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT:

- 1. Whereas it is the desire of both parties to this Agreement:
 - a. To maintain and improve the harmonious relations and settle conditions of employment between the Region and the Union;
 - b. To recognize the mutual value of joint discussion and negotiations in all matters pertaining to terms and conditions of employment;
 - c. To encourage efficiency in operation, and,
 - d. To promote morale and well-being.
- 2. And whereas it is now desirable that matters pertaining to the working conditions of the employees be drawn up in the agreement, the parties agree as follows:

Article 1 Definitions

- 1. Definitions:
 - a. <u>BANKED TIME</u> means credited time for overtime, call out, vacation call-out and standby not picked.
 - b. <u>BOARD</u> means the Board of Police Commissioners for the Halifax Regional Municipality.
 - c. <u>CADET and RECRUIT TRAINEE</u> means those persons who are enrolled in a recognized police training program and who, as a condition of their training, are required to perform services within the Department prior to graduation. No cadet or recruit trainee may serve with the employer for more than six (6) months or such further time deemed appropriate by the training institution.
 - d. <u>CAO</u> means the Chief Administrative Officer of the Halifax Regional Municipality.
 - e. <u>CALENDAR YEAR</u> means a period of twelve (12) consecutive months commencing January 1st and ending December 31st.
 - f. <u>CHIEF of POLICE</u> means the person appointed by the Halifax Regional Municipality from time to time to the position of 'Chief of Police' of the Halifax Regional Police Service.
 - g. <u>CIVILIANS</u> means all employees who are not sworn members and are covered by this agreement.
 - h. <u>DAY</u> means a twenty-four (24) hour period.
 - i. <u>EMPLOYEE</u> means a person assigned to a position coming within the scope of this Agreement.
 - j. <u>MANDATORY TRAINING</u> means any training that a member is directed to attend by the Chief of Police or the Chief of Police's designate. The posting shall say whether the training is mandatory or voluntary, or it shall be done when the member is notified of the training.
 - k. MEMBER means an employee covered by this collective agreement.
 - I. <u>POLICE OFFICER</u> means all employees who are sworn in as a Police Officer by the Halifax Regional Municipality under the Police Act of Nova Scotia, R.S.N.S. 1989, c.348.
 - m. <u>REGION</u> means the Halifax Regional Municipality.
 - n. <u>RESERVE POLICE OFFICER</u> means a trained, qualified recruit who has completed the Employer's cadet program.
 - o. <u>SENIORITY BASIS</u> means that priority is to be given according to seniority of the employee, and without regard to any persons not within the meaning of "employee" in this Agreement.
 - p. <u>SERVICE</u> means continuous employment within the Bargaining unit.
 - q. <u>SHIFT</u> means eight (8), ten (10) or twelve (12) consecutive hours of regular duty for those employees working either the eight (8), ten (10) or twelve (12) hour shift pattern.
 - r. <u>SHIFT ADJUSTMENT DAYS</u> means days given to those employees working the twelve-hour shift. These days have the same effect as a day off. These days are non-cashable.

- s. <u>SPOUSE</u> means a married spouse, a common-law spouse, a same sex spouse or a registered domestic partner and includes both same sex and opposite sex relationships
- t. <u>SWORN MEMBER</u> means all employees who are sworn in by the Halifax Regional Municipality under the Police Act of Nova Scotia, R.S.N.S. 1989, c.348.
- u. <u>UNION</u> means the Halifax Regional Police Association.
- v. <u>VACANCY</u> a vacancy occurs when a position is vacated upon death, resignation, retirement, promotion, demotion, dismissal, creating an absence of an employee in a position which the Employer intends to fill or the establishment of a new position which the Employer intends to fill.
- w. <u>WATCH</u> means members who perform their duties as a unit during their twelve (12) hour shift.
- x. <u>WEEK</u> means for the purpose of vacation leave, 'week' means four (4) working days for all members working in the watches and five (5) working days for all other members.
- 2. Interpretation:

In this agreement masculine includes the feminine and singular denotes the plural, where such interpretation is required.

Article 2 Management Rights

- 1. The Region shall possess and exercise all rights and functions, powers, privileges and authority with regard to the management and operation of the Police Service except as such are limited by the terms of this Agreement.
- 2. In the event of any change in the current policing boundaries, the employer shall meet with HRPA for the purposes of consulting on any issues which may impact upon the police service.

Article 3 Recognition

The Region recognizes the Union as the sole bargaining agent for a single unit including all of its employees employed as sworn police officers in the ranks of Staff Sergeants, Sergeants, and Constables, and all its civilian employees listed in Schedule "C" as amended from time to time or any other civilian positions created by Article 24 and such other civilian employees employed in Halifax Regional Police who are not excluded under the Trade Union Act or properly included in another bargaining unit. For greater clarity, the parties agree that the Inspector Rank is excluded and Ranks above it are excluded by virtue of section 2(2) of the Trade Union Act.

Article 4 No Discrimination

- The Region and Union agree that there will be no discrimination, restriction or coercion exercised or practised by it with respect to any employee, regardless of bargaining unit or non-bargaining unit status, by reason of their membership in the Union, or by reason of any prohibited grounds of discrimination as outlined in the Human Rights Act, R.S.N.S. 1990, c.214 (bona fide occupational requirements do not constitute prohibited grounds of discrimination).
- 2. The Union and the members of the Halifax Regional Police Association (HRPA) agree that there will be no intimidation, interference, restraint or coercion exercised or practice with respect to any employee of the Region by any of its members or representatives.
- 3. The Region shall accommodate injured employees to the extent required under the laws of Nova Scotia including the Human Rights Act. If accommodation occurs in a position within the bargaining unit, the member shall remain a member of the bargaining unit during such accommodation. If, however, accommodation is not possible within the bargaining unit, the employee may be accommodated outside of the bargaining unit. [2020]

Article 5 Union Security

The Region agrees that it shall be a condition of employment for all employees within this bargaining unit to become and remain members in good standing of the Union from the date of commencement of employment. Cadets & Recruit Trainees are excluded from the bargaining unit.

Article 6 Union Dues and Check Off

- The Region agrees to deduct from the wages of all employees all dues, assessments and initiation fees levied by the Union on its members and such monies so deducted shall be transmitted to the Halifax Regional Police Association account by way of direct deposit by Friday after each pay day.
- Any changes in the amount of dues, assessments or initiation fees shall only be made by the Region upon proper notification from the Union Executive of the Halifax Regional Police Association, and such change shall take effect in the month following the month in which such notification is given.
- 3. The Region agrees to deduct from the employee's wages such amounts as are required by the terms of this agreement for insurance and medical contributions.
- 4. The Region agrees to provide the Union with a monthly dues check off list.
- 5. The Union shall be entitled to post notices concerning its affairs in the Police Stations or Subdivision offices, electronically, or on bulletin boards to be supplied by the Region for the sole use of the Union. (Electronic mail shall only be sent by the Union Executive).
- 6. By no later than February 1 each year, the Employer shall provide the Union with a report showing the salary paid to each employee and the CPP, EI, health plan, WCB and pension contributions made by the Employer with respect to each employee and any union dues deducted in the prior calendar year.

Article 7 Hours of Work

Patrol Division:

- 1. Employees working on the watches in Patrol shall work the following shift schedule:
 - two (2) shifts of either 6:00 / 7:00 a.m. to 6:00 / 7:00 p.m.
 - twenty-four (24) hours off,
 - two (2) shifts of 6:00 / 7:00 p.m. to 6:00 / 7:00 a.m.
 - four (4) days off (96) hours off [2020]
- 2. Employees on the watches in Patrol-will report to duty ten (10) minutes prior to the commencement of the shift to facilitate briefing. [2020]
- 3. Employees working in the Quick Response Unit shall work shifts as directed by the Chief of Police or the Chief of Police's designate, but no more than eighty (80) hours bi-weekly. The employer will post the work schedules fourteen (14) days in advance. [2020]
- 4. All other employees working in the Patrol Division shall work no more than eighty (80) hours bi-weekly and begin their day shifts between 0700 and 1600 and finish their shifts eight (8) hours later. The start time shall be as directed by the Chief of Police or the Chief of Police's designate.

Office of the Chief of Police and Administration Division:

- 5. Employees assigned to the Office of the Chief of Police and Administration Division shall work no more than eighty (80) hours bi-weekly and begin their day shifts between 0600 and 1400 and finish their shifts eight (8) hours later. The start time shall be as directed by the Chief of Police or their designate.
- 6. The employer will post the work schedules thirty (30) days in advance. [2020]

Criminal Investigation Division:

 All employees assigned to the Criminal Investigation Division (CID) shall work shifts as directed by the Chief of Police or the Chief of Police's designate, but no more than eighty (80) hours bi-weekly. The employer will post the work schedules thirty (30) days in advance. Employees shall begin their shifts between 0700 and 1500 and finish their shifts ten (10) hours later with the exception of the following:

a. Civilian members shall begin their day shifts between 0700 and 1500 and finish their shifts eight (8) hours later.

b. Not withstanding Article 7(7) (a), employees in the Technical Surveillance Unit shall begin their shifts between 0700 and 1500 and finish their shifts eight (8) or ten (10) hours later.

c. Employees in GIS will begin their shifts between 0700 and 1700.

d. Supervisors in ISO and Financial Crime shall begin their day shifts between 0700 and 1500 and finish their shifts eight (8) hours later.

e. Employees assigned to the Financial Crime Section shall begin their day shifts between 0700 and 1100 and finish their shifts eight (8) or ten (10) hours later.

f. Employees in the Polygraph section will begin their day shifts between 0700 and 1100 and finish their shifts eight (8) hours later.

g. Staff Sergeants in CID will begin their shifts between 0700 and 1400 and finish their shifts eight (8) hours later.

h. When there is not an operation in progress, the regular hours of work for Intercept Monitors will be in accordance with the civilian hours outlined in article 7.07(b). While

there is an operation in progress, the hours of work for Intercept Monitors will be as assigned by the Supervisor. When a change of schedule from the regular hours of work is required due to a an operation, the Supervisor will provide the employee with 14 days' notice of their revised schedule. Any changes to the schedule will require 14 days' notice unless the employee agrees. Shifts may be eight (8) or ten (10) hours in duration during an operation. [2020]

Support Division

- 8. Employees working in the K-9 Unit, Prisoner Care Facility and Integrated Emergency Services [IES] shall work the following shift schedule:
 - two (2) shifts of either 6:00 / 7:00 a.m. to 6:00 / 7:00 p.m.
 - twenty-four (24) hours off,
 - two (2) shifts of 6:00 / 7:00 p.m. to 6:00 / 7:00 a.m.
 - four (4) days off (96) hours off [2020]
- Employees in the K-9 Unit, the Mounted Unit, the Prisoner Care Unit and IES, will report to duty ten (10) minutes prior to the commencement of the shift to facilitate briefing.
 [2020]
- Employees working in the Mounted Unit, Traffic Unit, and third-party contract units, shall work shifts as directed by the Chief of Police or the Chief of Police's designate, but no more than eighty (80) hours bi-weekly. The employer will post the work schedules thirty (30) days in advance. [2020]
- 11. All other employees working in the Support Division shall work no more than eighty (80) hours bi-weekly and begin their day shifts between 0700 and 1600 and finish their shifts eight (8) hours later. The start time shall be as directed by the Chief of Police or the Chief of Police's designate. [2020]
- 12. Employees working in the Courts and Records section shall work no more than eighty (80) hours bi-weekly and begin their day shifts between 0600 and 1400 and finish their shifts eight (8) hours later. The start time shall be as directed by the Chief of Police or the Chief of Police's designate. The employer will post the work schedules thirty (30) days in advance. [2020]

Article 8 Overtime - Overtime is Mandatory not Voluntary

- 1. For employees on an eight (8) or ten (10) hour work schedule, the Region shall pay an overtime rate of one and one-half (1¹/₂) the regular hourly rate of pay for all hours worked after eight (8) or ten (10) hours in any one day and after forty (40) hours in one week.
- For employees on a twelve (12) hour work schedule, the Region shall pay an overtime rate of one and one-half (1¹/₂) the regular hourly rate of pay for all hours worked after twelve (12) hours in any one day.
- 3. For each hour of overtime work performed on a Sunday, or equivalent of a Sunday (second and fourth consecutive days off shall be equivalent to a Sunday), the Region shall pay the member at the rate of double the regular hourly rate of pay. For all overtime hours in excess of eight (8) hours at any one time, the Region shall pay the member at double the regular rate of pay.
- For purposes of computing overtime, any period of overtime greater than twenty (20) minutes but less than 40 minutes shall constitute a ½ hour. Any time greater than forty (40) minutes shall constitute an hour.

- 5. For the purpose of computing the hourly rate of overtime pay, the employee's annual salary shall be divided by two thousand and eighty (2,080) hours.
- 6. The Region shall not reschedule employees or schedule time off for the purpose of avoiding payment of overtime
- 7. All employees shall have the option of taking equivalent time off in lieu of payment for overtime hours worked.
- 8. Overtime may be cashed or banked, however, payment for banked time shall be at the rate at which it was earned. Employees can bank their time to a maximum of 180 hours. Once a bank is at its maximum, all new time will be paid out until the banked time is reduced below the maximum of 180 hours.
- 9. For all employees hired after July 1st of 2003, overtime may be cashed or banked, however, payment for banked time shall be at the rate at which it was earned. Employees can bank their time to a maximum of 96 hours. Once a bank is at its maximum, all new time will be paid out until the banked time is reduced below the maximum of 96 hours.
- 10. For the sole purposes of calculating overtime pay for members working on the twelve (12) hour shift, "day" is defined as the twenty-four (24) hour period commencing at 0700 on one day and ending at 0700 on the following day. For the sole purposes of calculating overtime pay for members working on the eight (8) or ten (10) hour shift, "day" is defined as the twenty-four (24) hour period commencing at midnight and ending at the following midnight.
- 11. All employees are required to submit their overtime slips within 30 calendar days after the overtime was worked. If the overtime slips are not submitted within the time lines, the employee will not receive compensation for their overtime. The Region will not process any overtime slips that are not correctly filled out, until the individual submitting the slip and their NCO make the corrections and resubmit within the 30 day time line.

Article 9 Vacation

 Vacation entitlement shall be based upon an employee's continuous service with HRM which shall comprise both bargaining unit service and HRM full-time continuous nonbargaining unit service. During the first year (which will be a partial calendar year) members shall be credited 8 hours of vacation for each completed month of service. Vacations shall next be credited at January 1 of the following year based on the following table: [2020]

Years of Service	48 Hour Work Week	40 Hour Work Week
25 Plus Years	6 Cycles	7 Weeks
16 – 24 Years	5 Cycles	6 Weeks
11 – 15 Years	4 Cycles	5 Weeks
6 – 10 Years	3 Cycles	4 Weeks
1 – 5 Years	2 Cycles	3 Weeks
0 – 1 Year	8 hours per month	8 hours per month

- a. All new employees hired after July 1, 2003 shall be credited vacation based upon the above table.
- b. For greater clarity on individual amounts of vacation please refer to Schedule "D."
- c. Notwithstanding the above, any employee who carries service from HRM other than service within the bargaining unit for the purpose of vacation shall pick their vacation on the following basis:
 - i. For vacation entitlement based upon bargaining unit service the employee shall pick in accordance with their bargaining unit seniority;
 - ii. For vacation entitlement based upon non-bargaining unit service (i.e. HRM non-HRPA service) the employee shall pick their vacation for the non-bargaining service only after all bargaining unit employees have picked their vacation, holiday leave and shift adjustment leave;
 - iii. No employee shall receive vacation entitlement exceeding the maximum under the terms of the HRPA collective agreement.

2. Employees shall select vacation leave, statutory leave and shift adjustment leave within their respective Watches, Sections or Units as shown in Schedule "A", in order of seniority in the following manner:

- a. All employees shall pick three (3) cycles if working twelve (12) hour shifts, or three (3) weeks if working day shifts, as their first vacation picks.
- b. All employees shall pick their remaining vacation cycles or weeks next, with the exception of those employees on a forty (40) hour work week. They shall have the right to set aside 40 hours of vacation. They shall have used or picked their 40 hours of vacation time by the end of the first week in September. Any vacation time that hasn't been used or picked by the end of the first week in September shall be deleted from the employees banked time. Employees are not able to cash in vacation time.
- c. Cancelled vacation shall not result in the re-picking of cycles or weeks of vacation.
- 3. No more than the designated numbers in Schedule "A" shall be off on at any one time, except by approval of the Chief of Police or the Chief of Police's designate.
- 4. Vacation for each calendar year is taken in advance on the assumption that the employee will work the relevant calendar year. The employee shall reimburse the Region on a pro rata basis for unearned vacation taken in a calendar year.
- 5. If, as a result of an on the job injury, a sworn member is assigned to alternate duties or is unable to attend work, and the time period coincides with scheduled vacation leave, such vacation leave can be rescheduled in accordance with Article 9 (2), at the employee's option, but must be used in that calendar year. If it is not possible to use this time in the calendar year, it may be carried forward to March 31 of the following year (debit slips required before year end) after which time it will be deleted from the employee's bank.
- 6. Members picking vacation are permitted to pick cycles that commence in one calendar year and end in another calendar year. For clarification, a member can pick a cycle that starts on December 30th, 2009 and ends on January 2nd, 2010. These cycles shall be open for full vacation selection.

Article 10 Statutory Holiday Leave

- 1. The following days shall be considered legal holidays for the purpose of this agreement:
 - New Year's Day
 - Good Friday
 - o Easter Monday
 - o Victoria Day
 - o Canada Day
 - o Natal Day
 - o Labour Day
 - o Truth and Reconciliation Day
 - Thanksgiving Day
 - o Remembrance Day
 - o Christmas Day
 - Boxing Day
 - o Heritage Day
 - Any other day appointed by proclamation of the Governor General of Canada, the Lieutenant Governor of Nova Scotia, or the Halifax Regional Municipality.
 - 2. Statutory holidays shall be recognized on the actual date they fall, regardless of whether that date is during the work week or on a weekend. This applies to all employees except those on twelve (12) hour shifts.
 - 3. All employees other than those on the twelve (12) hour shift schedule shall take the holidays off (or the day designated for a holiday).
 - 4. For those employees who work either an (8) eight hour shift schedule or ten (10) hour shift schedule, if the holiday falls on their regularly scheduled day off, they shall receive 8 hours or 10 hours of delayed holiday leave. This day shall be re-picked and used in the current calendar year.
 - 5. All employees except those on the twelve (12) hour shift who have a vacation day fall on a holiday day shall receive a credit of eight (8) hours or ten (10) hours of vacation time depending on their shift schedule. Employees will be required to put in a time credit slip for their vacation time.
 - 6. All employees called out to work during their holiday leave shall receive double time for all hours worked on that holiday plus an additional 8 hours of holiday leave, which shall be rescheduled and re-picked in that calendar year.
 - 7. All employees who work the twelve (12) hour shift shall receive (96 hours) two cycles of holiday leave at the start of each calendar year and shall pick this leave after vacation selection is done in accordance with Schedule "A" (an employee may opt to convert 48 hours of holiday leave to Chief's Leave at the start of the year).
 - 8. If, as a result of an on the job injury, a sworn member assigned to a twelve (12) hour shift is assigned to alternate duties or is unable to attend work, and the time periods coincide with scheduled holiday leave, such holiday leave can be rescheduled, but must be used in that calendar year. If it is not possible to use this time in the calendar year, it may be carried forward to March 31 of the following year (debit slips required before end of calendar year), after which time it will be deleted from the employee's bank.

Article 11 Shift Adjustment

- 1. All employees who work the twelve (12) hour shift shall receive 104 hours of shift adjustment leave at the start of each calendar year and shall pick this leave after vacation and holiday leave selection is done in accordance with Schedule "A".
- 2. Shift adjustment leave shall be taken in two (2) complete cycles and one eight (8) hour block and is non-cashable.
- 3. If, as a result of an on the job injury, a sworn member assigned to a twelve (12) hour shift is assigned to alternate duties or is unable to attend work, and the time periods coincide with scheduled shift adjustment leave, leave can be rescheduled, but must be used in that calendar year. If it is not possible to use this time in the calendar year, it may be carried forward to March 31 of the following year (debit slips required before end of calendar year), after which time it will be deleted from the employee's bank.
- 4. Shift adjustment is prorated and given in advance on the assumption that the employees on the twelve (12) hour shift will work more hours in the calendar year than employees on a 40 hour work week. An employee who does not work the twelve (12) hour shift cycle for 30 consecutive calendar days shall have their current years shift adjustment reduced by eight (8) hours for each thirty (30) consecutive calendar days off the twelve (12) hour shift cycle (for example, an employee off duty due to illness for 30 days would only be entitled to 96 hours of shift adjustment for the current year). The employee shall reimburse the Region for unearned shift adjustment leave taken in a calendar year. Reimbursements will first be taken from the employee's vacation, time off in lieu or holiday leave bank. Where current banks are exhausted, the reimbursement shall be taken from future shift adjustment, vacation, time off in lieu or holiday leave entitlements or, in the case of an employee who is no longer employed with the employer, their final pay or other payment owed to the employee. [2020]

Article 12 Compassionate Leave

- 1. When a death occurs to a member of the immediate family of an employee, such employee shall be granted compassionate leave with pay, for a period of seven consecutive days. The day of the death shall be considered the first day. It is explicitly understood that when a death occurs during Vacation Leave, Holiday Leave, Shift Adjustment Leave, or any other type of leave, the employee does not have the right to be reimbursed for the loss of the leave as a result of a death in the family.
- 2. One day's compassionate leave with pay shall be granted to an employee on the death of a grandparent-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, aunt, or uncle. The compassionate leave day shall occur within five calendar days of the date of the death. The date of the death shall be considered the first day. It is explicitly understood that when a death occurs during Vacation Leave, Holiday Leave, Shift Adjustment Leave, or any other type of leave, the employee does not have the right to be reimbursed for the loss of the leave as a result of a death in the family.
- 3. For the purpose of this Article, members of the immediate family are the employee's spouse, mother, father, brothers, sisters, sons, daughters, grandparents, mother-in-law, father-in-law, stepchildren, grandchildren and stepparent.

4. In the event that some additional time is necessary for compassionate purposes, an employee may request additional days of leave and such additional days may be granted at the discretion of the Chief of Police.

Article 13 Liability Insurance

The Region shall maintain reasonable insurance to cover the civil liability of members where members act within the scope of their duties.

Article 14 Group Insurance Medical Plan and Dental Plan

- All HRPA members shall enrol in the Union's Group Benefit Plan (the "Group Plan"). The Group Plan shall provide insurance for Basic Life, Dependant Life, AD&D, Medical, Dental and Long Term Disability, as set out in the correspondence between the parties.
- The members of the Union shall pay 100% of the costs of the Life Insurance, Accidental Death and Dismemberment, Dependant Life and Long Term Disability of the Group Plan. The parties shall cost share on a 50-50 basis the cost of the dental benefits in the plan. The employer shall pay 100% of the health costs of the Plan.
- 3. The employer's contribution shall be 3.5 % of the total salaries of the bargaining unit members for the period starting April 1st 2009 to March 31st 2010. In subsequent years the 3.5% shall be calculated in November using the salaries calculated for April 1st of the following year and the staff complements as of April 1st of the following year. The employer's share shall be submitted to the Union's plan by the first Wednesday of each month. The Union shall notify the employer of all plan improvements.
- 4. The Union shall provide the Region with a copy of the plan and all pertinent financial information and experience as requested. The Union Executive shall respond to all relevant questions of the employer.
- 5. In the event that the Union desires to cease coverage under the Union Plan and have employees of the bargaining unit registered in the Group Plan of the Region, registration shall be subject to the terms and conditions as agreed by the Region and the Union.
- 6. Subject to the provisions of the applicable pension plans, if the employee elects to make contributions to the pension plan while covered by Long Term Disability Insurance, the Region shall make its related employer contributions to the plan.
- 7. If employees qualify, without an actuarial reduction, for retirement under their pension plan, they shall not be eligible for disability benefits beyond a period of two years.
- 8. Employees who retire are eligible to participate in the Union's Benefit Plan.
- 9. Nothing in this Article reduces a member's eligibility for Injury Leave under Article 44.
- 10. The Region agrees to pay a lump sum of money to each employee upon retirement after the signing of this agreement on the following terms and conditions: The money will be put in trust for their medical costs.
 - a. An Employee who retires between April 1st and December 31st of any year and who has a full sick bank will receive a payment of \$10,000.00 dollars.
 - An Employee who retires between April 1st and December 31st of any year and who has a sick bank of between 900 hours and 1,199 hours will receive a payment of \$7,500.00 dollars

- c. An Employee who retires between April 1st and December 31st of any year and who has a sick bank of between 600 hours and 899 hours will receive a payment of \$5,000.00 dollars.
- d. An Employee who retires between April 1st and December 31st of any year and who has a sick bank of between 300 hours and 599 hours will receive a payment of \$2,500.00 dollars.

Article 15 Association Leave

1. The Region agrees to grant 720 hours leave, cumulatively, with pay, to members of the Association for the purpose of attending to the affairs of the Union, as well as provincial and national meetings.

All Association Leave must be approved by the HRPA board and forwarded to the Deputy Chief for tracking purposes.

- 2. In addition to leave under 15(1), the Region shall grant leave from time to time to the Union without pay, upon request, provided reasonable notice is given.
- 3. In addition to leave under 15(1), the Region shall further grant employees who are members of the Management Employee Relations Committee or who are on the Negotiation Committee of the Union leave with pay to attend all negotiations and Management Employee Relations and Grievance meetings with the Region.
- 4. The Region recognizes the importance of maintaining good working relations with its employees and to that end, the Region shall permit members of the Union Executive reasonable time during normal working hours to conduct Association business.
- 5. The region agrees to pay the Union President's salary up to the pension maximum, or any future increases as approved by the pension committee.

Article 16 Pre-Retirement Leave

- 1. After ten (10) years of continuous service and upon retirement or death, employees shall be entitled to paid leave for the period immediately prior to retirement, calculated on the basis of three calendar days per year, up to a maximum of **ninety** (90) calendar days.
- 2. Employees entitled to receive pre-retirement leave may elect to work all or a portion of the pre-retirement leave period and receive a lump sum payment for the pre-retirement period worked. Where the lump sum payment is chosen, this amount shall not be computed as part of the person's pension and would be paid at the time of actual retirement.
- Employees who served on the Dartmouth Police service immediately prior to April 1st 1996 and who had 12 or more years of service as of November 1, 1997, shall not be entitled to pre-retirement leave.
- 4. Employees who served on the Dartmouth Police service immediately prior to April 1st 1996 and who did not have 12 or more years of service as of November 1, 1997, shall be entitled to pre-retirement leave in 16 (1) and 16 (2) for all service to the Region and the Dartmouth Police Services
- 5. Employees who served on the Bedford Police service immediately prior to April 1st 1996 and who did not receive compensation for the pre-retirement leave due to amalgamation

shall be entitled to pre-retirement leave in 16 (1) and (2) for all service to the Region and the Bedford Police Service.

- Employees who served on the Bedford Police service immediately prior to April 1st 1996 and who did receive compensation for the pre-retirement leave due to amalgamation shall be entitled to pre-retirement leave in 16 (1) and (2) only for service after April 1st 1996.
- 7. Police officers will be entitled to the benefit under Article 48.

Article 17 Court Time

- 1. Court Time Compensation:
 - a. All court time during off duty hours shall be paid at time and a half the regular rate except as specified herein.
 - b. A minimum of four (4) hours pay, at time and a half the regular rate, shall be allowed for attendance at a court sitting on the employee's first and third day off. The employee shall be entitled to a minimum of four hours pay, at double time the regular rate, on the employee's second and fourth day off. If an appearance at the afternoon court session is required in the same day, this afternoon attendance shall be considered a second sitting. If an appearance at an evening session of the court is required on the same day, it shall be considered a third court sitting
 - c. Court time during scheduled holiday leave shall be paid at double time. In addition, a member shall be given 8 hours of delayed holiday leave for each day in court and it shall be rescheduled and taken in the current calendar year. If it is not possible to use this time in the current calendar year, it may be carried forward to March 31 of the following year (debit slips are required before year end), after which it will be deleted from the employee's bank.
 - d. All compensation for Court call out (except Court on Vacation) shall be paid out under this Article.
- 2. Witness Fees:
 - a. Employees agree to sign over witness fees to the Region.
 - b. If an employee fails to comply with the required administrative regulations so that the Region can collect witness fees, the Region can offset against this amount any amount the Region pays.
- 3. Release from Duty
 - a. An employee who is required to attend morning or afternoon court between two (2) twelve (12) hour night shifts shall be released from duty at midnight. In the event that the Chief of Police or his their delegate require the employee to stay past midnight, the employee shall receive compensation as a continuation of duty. The employee shall be entitled to their normal compensation for attending court the next day, which is four hours pay at one and one half times the hourly rate of pay.
 - b. An employee who is required to attend morning court immediately after the second scheduled twelve (12) hour night shift shall be released from duty at midnight. In the event that the Chief of Police or the Chief of Police's delegate requires the employee to stay past midnight, the employee shall receive

compensation as a continuation of duty. The employee shall be entitled to their normal compensation for attending court the next day. [2020]

- 4. Any or all court time that occurs as a result of action taken by an employee in the exercise of their police duties or as a result of their involvement as a police officer, whether during regular hours of work or otherwise, shall be paid under the provisions of this Article.
- 5. A retired employee who, by virtue of their duties prior to retirement, is required to go to court shall be paid a flat fee of \$150.00 for each appearance.
- 6. Any employee's court appearance cancelled after 8 p.m. the night before their off duty court appearance shall receive four (4) hours of time or pay at straight time. (Does not apply to court between nights.)
- 7. All employees are required to submit their court slips within 30 calendar days after the court case. If the court slips are not submitted within the time lines, the employee will not receive compensation for their court appearance. The Region will not process any court slips that are not correctly filled out, until the individual submitting the slip and their NCO make the corrections and resubmit within the thirty (30) day time line.

Article 18 Call Out is Mandatory not Voluntary

- All employees called out to duty during off duty hours shall be credited with a minimum of four (4) hours at the pay rate of time and one half (1½) the regular hourly rate of pay for each call out except that the pay rate shall be double the regular hourly rate on Sundays and legal holidays.
- 2. A call out occurs after an employee has reported off duty and before they are scheduled to report for duty.
- 3. All employees have the option of taking equivalent time off in lieu of payment for the hours credited to them for each call out.

Article 19 Call Back During Vacation

- Any employee required to make an appearance in court or to report for duty in the performance of their duties during their vacation of one week or more or one cycle or more shall be given (24) hours of banked time for each day of vacation in which they attend, plus reasonable travel expenses, at the discretion of the Chief of Police, PROVIDED, that the employee notifies the Chief of Police or the Chief of Police's designate as soon as the employee learns that they are required to make such appearance and provided the employee did not pick the vacation period after a subpoena was served as outlined in Article 19(3). [2020]
- 2. For the purpose of call back during vacation, the days off prior, during, and at the end of a vacation shall be considered vacation days.
- 3. Subpoenas which have been served to any member prior to vacation picks being conducted by the Police Department shall have no bearing on when a member picks their vacation. Employees who pick vacation on a week in which they already have a

subpoena for court will be entitled to a call out at double the regular rate of pay for required attendance at a court sitting. For greater clarity, the employee shall be entitled to a minimum of four hours pay, at double the regular rate. If an appearance at the afternoon court session is required in the same day, this afternoon attendance shall be considered a second sitting. If an appearance at an evening session of the court is required on the same day, it shall be considered a third court sitting. [2020]

- Employees called back to work for any reason on any day of annual vacation leave taken less than a week or a cycle at a time, shall receive benefits under Article 18 – Call Out or Article 17 – Court Time where applicable.
- 5. An employee called back to work for duty other than court while on vacation, shall be given triple time for all hours worked. They will work a minimum of 8 hours.
- 6. When an employee is not informed prior to the completion of their last shift worked before their vacation of the cancellation of a court case which was scheduled during their vacation, the employee shall be entitled to twenty-four (24) hours of banked time. This does not apply to court during vacation that was picked after a subpoena was served as outlined in Article 19(3), in which case the employee shall be entitled to twelve (12) hours of banked time. [2020]

Article 20 Meal Hours

- An employee shall be entitled to an uninterrupted meal period of one (1) hour during each shift. In the event the employee's duties make this impossible, they shall be entitled to one (1) hour off. This hour shall be at the start of their next day shift.
- 2. An employee shall be permitted to eat their meal within their division or at home if their home is in the division. The Chief of Police or their designate reserves the right to assign meal hours and areas for operational purposes. The employee is permitted to leave their zone within the division, provided approval is given by the NCO, prior to the officer leaving their zone.
- 3. One (1) hour meal period afforded employees can be split into two (2) half hour meal periods during a twelve (12) hour shift at the option of the employee.

Article 21 Service Pay

 a. The Region agrees to pay seventeen hundred and fifty (\$1,750) dollars annually to all employees, commencing at the start of their 20th year of continuous service in 2022 and two thousand (\$2,000) dollars annually to all employees, commencing at the start of their 20th year of continuous service in 2023. This amount shall be pro-rated in the employee's last year.

b. The Region agrees to pay two thousand two hundred and fifty (\$2,250) dollars annually to all employees, commencing at the start of their 25th year of continuous service in 2022 and two thousand five hundred (\$2,500) dollars annually to all employees, commencing at the start of their 25th year of continuous service in 2023. This amount shall be prorated in the employee's last year. [2020]

- 2. For greater clarity, Schedule "E" shall be used to determine when members are eligible for this benefit.
- 3. Such service pay is to be paid once per year on the pay day immediately prior to Christmas.

Article 22 Survivor's Benefits

- If a Police Officer or Booking Officer dies as a result of injuries received while carrying out their duties, the officer's spouse shall receive seventy percent (70%) of the annual salary that the officer would have received if they were still alive and still holding the same rank as they had at the time of their death. The surviving spouse thereafter shall also receive seventy percent (70%) of any pay increases received by the officer's rank after the officer's death.
- 2. The surviving spouse shall receive the survivor's benefit until death. If there is no surviving spouse, or the spouse dies after the member, the child or children shall receive the survivor's benefit until they reach twenty-five (25) years of age.
- 3. The benefit provided under this article may be facilitated through insurance coverage.
- 4. Notwithstanding the aforementioned, the employer shall provide the option to any surviving spouse of receiving the proceeds of a life insurance policy held by the employer on a deceased Police Officer or Booking Officer in the amount of \$400,000.00 and all other lawful entitlements instead of receiving the salary continuance benefits outlined above.

Article 23 Legal Aid Protection

Criminal Actions;

- 1. The Region, at its expense, shall pay for legal expenses incurred by an employee in the defence of a Criminal or Judicial Inquiry PROVIDED:
 - a. The member is charged criminally, subpoenaed to, or is the subject matter of an inquiry;
 - b. The act, purported act, or failure to act was within the member's scope of duties;
 - c. Legal counsel chosen has been selected from a list agreed upon by the Region and the Union;
 - d. The Region has the right to apply for a review of the legal costs to the taxing master.
- 2. Each employee shall have the right to retain additional counsel of their own choice at their own expense.
- 3. If the first judicial determination is not guilty and this determination is appealed, the cost of the subsequent appeals shall be borne by the Region.
- 4. If the first judicial determination is guilty, the Chief of Police shall review the possibility of appeal with the member and defence counsel, and the Region shall pay the cost of the appeal if the Chief of Police so recommends.
- 5. If the member appeals a first judicial determination of guilty at their expense, and after all appeals is found not guilty, the member shall be completely indemnified by the Region for all legal costs.

Civil Actions:

- 6. The Region at its expense, shall provide members with counsel if the member is named in a civil action provided the act, purported act, or failure to act was within the scope of the member's duties.
- Should the member not be satisfied with the City's choice of counsel, the member and representative of the Region and the Union shall consult with the Chief of Police. The Chief may then make recommendations to the Director of Legal Services and Risk Management.
- 8. The Region, pursuant to the Police Act, has the right to settle civil proceedings and has the sole discretion as to whether a decision shall be appealed. A settlement does not constitute an admission of fault by a member.
- 9. The Region shall indemnify members for all damages and costs awarded in any civil actions where the Region is required to provide counsel. The Region waives any right to subrogate against any member who has been so indemnified.

Police Act Public Complaints:

- 10. The Region shall pay a maximum of \$75,000.00 per fiscal year, cumulatively, for legal representation on all public Police Act complaints for which the complaint is not sustained.
- 11. The Region shall have the right in the name of the employee to undertake the investigations or settle the complaint as may be deemed expedient by the Region. Any settlement does not constitute an admission of fault by the member.

Police Act Internal Complaints:

12. Notwithstanding anything else in the article, the Region shall have the right to discipline an employee under the procedures of the Police Act. Such disciplinary action shall not prejudice any right of the member to benefit under this article in relation to court proceedings and complaints arising out of the same fact situation, but the Region has no obligation to provide the employee with counsel or indemnification in relation to the internal discipline proceedings.

Article 24 Classifications / Ranks / Civilian Employees

- The Region has the right to create new classifications or ranks covered under the Collective Agreement. The final rate of pay for such classifications and ranks shall be negotiated by the Region and the Union. In the event the parties are unable to agree to a rate within thirty (30) days of the establishment of the new classification or rank, then the matter shall be submitted to arbitration pursuant to the arbitration provisions of this agreement, and the decision of the arbitrator will be final and binding on both parties.
- 2. In the event that any duties which are currently being performed by police officers are transferred to civilian employees, then the Region shall give voluntary recognition to the Union as the bargaining agent for such civilian employees and it shall be a condition of employment that all such civilian employees shall become and remain members in good standing with the Union.

3. The civilian employees referred to in Article 24 (2) shall have such working conditions and benefits as are negotiated by the Region and the Union. In the event the parties are unable to agree on the working conditions and benefits for such employees, then the matter shall be submitted to arbitration pursuant to the arbitration provisions of this agreement, and the decision of the arbitrator will be final and binding on both parties.

Article 25 Probationary Period

1. A new employee within the bargaining unit shall serve a one-year probationary period during which they may be dismissed by the Employer for any reasonable cause as determined by the Employer. Reasonable cause does not equate to just cause.

Article 26 Training

- 1. The Region recognizes the importance of members having education and training opportunities related to the Police function.
- The Region, subject to operational requirements, shall permit members to attend fullyfunded courses posted throughout the Region, provided the course has a rational connection to the member's police duties. Furthermore, any general training or educational policy the Region adopts will be applicable to the members.
- 3. When police training opportunities are available, a notice shall be posted, so that interested members can apply. When possible, training opportunities shall be posted for a minimum of fourteen (14) days. The posting shall indicate the minimum qualifications, and the posting will be by way of an electronic message sent to all members.
- 4. A member applying under clause three (3) shall do so in writing to the Chief of Police or the Chief of Police's designate. This application must reach the Chief of Police or the Chief of Police's designate by the closing date on the posting notice.
- 5. The Region shall post the notice of the successful candidate immediately following selection by way of electronic message.
- 6. If more than one candidate meets the qualifications set out in the course training standard the following factors shall be taken into consideration:(a) Organizational needs and (b) Seniority
- 7. The Union agrees that the Region can send members on training courses to bring those members identified by the Region up to the minimum standard expected for their job. The Region shall notify the Union in advance of this taking place.
- 8. The Region agrees that all mandatory training shall be done during normal working hours. If this is not possible and the member volunteers to come in on their time off, they will be compensated at straight time for all hours worked.
- 9. The Region agrees to compensate all employees who apply and are selected to attend voluntary training at straight time for all hours worked.
- 10. All members who apply for any of the opportunities in this article shall have their application recorded in their personnel file.
- 11. All employees who are away from their homes while attending courses of more than five(5) weeks duration, shall be reimbursed by the Region for all reasonable travel expenses to return home for one (1) weekend during the course.

- 12. While on any course authorized by the Region all employees shall be considered on duty and covered by this Agreement.
- 13. The Region may make a course conditional upon the member remaining in a given position for a certain period; however, the member may participate in promotional routines and if successful the Region has the option of keeping the member in the position for the full period at the higher rank or transferring the member at the higher rank.
- 14. The Region and the Union may agree on specified "training days" or a regular schedule of training days on which members shall be deemed to be on day shift.

Article 27 Management Employee Relations

- There shall be a Management-Employee Relations Committee consisting of not less than four (4) and not more than six (6) representatives of the Union, the Chief of Police, or the Chief of Police's designates, and one member of the Halifax Regional Municipality Board of Police Commissioners and the C.A.O. or a designate of the C.A.O. Other parties may be invited to attend.
- 2. The names of the persons appointed to such committee shall be communicated to the Union and the Region within one (1) month after the signing of this Agreement.
- 3. A Chairperson shall be selected at the first meeting from among the members and the Chairperson shall serve as such for six (6) months and shall preside at all meetings and provide each member of the Committee with seven (7) days notice of all meetings and an agenda for each meeting.
- 4. The Committee shall meet at least monthly to discuss any matters and such matters shall be placed on the agenda by the Chairman.
- 5. A secretary supplied by the Region shall be permitted to attend for the purpose of taking minutes.

Article 28 Clothing and Equipment

 The Region shall issue the following clothing and equipment to all employees who are required to perform their duties in uniform and shall be replaced as needed. Clothing and Equipment shall be date-stamped and the employee shall return to the Quartermaster Stores the last issue of the clothing/equipment to obtain a replacement:

All Uniformed Employees:

Flash Light	Tie	Boots				
Socks	Winter hat (toque)	Three-season Jacket				
Gloves (winter and cut resistant)	Rain pants	Shoes*				
Dress Uniform (i.e. Tunic, Pants	Forge Hat					
and Accessories)						
*Shoes shall be replaced a maximum of once/year [2020]						

2. The Region shall provide each uniformed and new employee 2 new pairs of pants and 4 new shirts, then by June 1 in the year thereafter, 2 pairs of pants and 2 shirts. Following

this, pants and shirts will be replaced as needed. Clothing shall be date-stamped and the employee shall return the last issue of the clothing to the Quartermaster Stores to obtain a replacement. [2020]

- 3. Uniformed employees shall individually have the discretion to decide which of the regulation coats, hats, jackets, or shirt styles they will wear while on duty. Ties must be worn for ceremonial functions as designated by the Chief of Police.
- 4. The Region agrees to provide each plain clothes employee with a wallet designed to hold their police badge.
- 5. Police Officers, and any other employees as determined by the Chief of Police, required to perform their duties in plain clothes, shall receive a clothing allowance in the amount of \$600.00 which shall be tax-free, subject to Revenue Canada, and a further \$1,000.00 which shall be taxable for incidental expenses of the plain clothed officer. Sworn Officers in the Identification section shall also be entitled to the \$1,000.00 which shall be taxable. The amount shall be for each calendar year and is to be paid not later than the 30th of April each year. [2020]
- Employees identified in Article 33(5) who transfer into a position after January 31st, in which they are required to perform their duties in plain clothes, shall receive a pro-rated clothing allowance for the remainder of that year. Employees shall only be eligible to receive one clothing allowance per year. [2020]
- 7. Police Officers and Booking Officers shall receive a kit allowance of \$300.00 per year non-taxable, not pro-rated, no later than the 15th of April each year, to cover the calendar year. For new Police Officers and Booking Officers, if they are hired after April 15th in a calendar year, they will not receive a kit allowance until the next calendar year.
- 8. Police Officers on temporary assignment to plain clothes duty shall be paid \$4.00 per day for clothing.
- 9. The region agrees to pay each member of the mounted section a cleaning allowance of \$200.00.
- 10. All issued clothing and equipment provided pursuant to this article damaged in the line of duty shall be replaced immediately at the expense of the Region.
- 11. All employees shall be permitted to go to and from work in their plain clothes, provided, however, that employees are in uniform at fall-in time, and provided further that when the employees go to and from work in street clothes, no part of the uniform may be worn which obviously identifies the employee as a police officer.
- 12. The Union shall have a Clothing and Equipment Committee. The Clothing and Equipment Committee shall be responsible for the following:
 - a. Recommending the purchase of articles to the Chief of Police prior to the issuing of a tender;
 - b. Recommending tendering specifications for all articles of clothing and Equipment;
 - c. Recommending to the Chief of Police changes in clothing and equipment designated under Article 28, as well as clothing and equipment as yet not indicated in this agreement, as it relates to the purchase or non-purchase as well as quantities of such clothing and equipment; and

d. Should employees be refused clothing on the as required basis, the Clothing and Equipment Committee shall be empowered to investigate the refusal and report their findings to the Chief of Police for final disposition.

Article 29Discipline/Discharge Grievance and ArbitrationProcedure

- 1. The Region acknowledges the right of the Union to appoint, elect, or otherwise select a grievance committee to represent employees.
- 2. The Union shall notify the Chief of Police of the make-up of this committee within a month of signing this Agreement and the Union shall immediately advise the Chief of Police of any change in the Committee as may occur from time to time.
- 3. A grievance shall mean a difference between the Region and the Union, or the Region and a member, arising from the interpretation, application or administration or alleged violation of the Agreement.
- 4. A grievance shall be processed as follows:
 - a. The aggrieved member shall submit in writing an outline of the grievance to the Grievance Committee;
 - b. Step 1 If the Union decides to proceed with the grievance, it shall submit the grievance in writing to the Deputy Chief of Police or the Deputy Chief of Police's representative within thirty (30) days of the circumstances giving rise to the grievance or such later date the member can reasonably be expected to have become aware of those circumstances;
 - c. The Deputy Chief of Police or the Deputy Chief of Police's representative shall meet with the Union within ten (10) days of the receipt of the grievance and render a written decision within ten (10) days of the meeting.
 - d. Step 2 Should the response at Step 1 not be satisfactory, the Union will submit the grievance to the Chief of Police or the Chief of Police's representative within ten (10) days of the Step 1 response.
 - e. The Chief of Police or their representative will meet with the aggrieved member and the Grievance Committee within ten (10) days of the receipt of the grievance and render a written decision within ten (10) days of the meeting.
- 5. A policy grievance of the Union shall proceed directly to the Chief of Police or the Chief of Police's representative in accordance with Article 29(4)(d). The parties may also agree to proceed directly to Step 2 on any other grievance.
- 6. Arbitration:
 - Failing compliance with the time limits in Article 29(4)(c) or 29(4)(e) or satisfactory settlement, the Union may within five (5) business days notify the Region of its intention to submit the matter to arbitration;
 - b. The Region and the Union shall agree on a single arbitrator within ten (10) days of the notice of intention to proceed to arbitration, unless either party exercises the option in Article 29 (6)(g);
 - c. If the parties are unable to agree on an arbitrator within ten (10) days, either party may apply to the Minister of Labour of Nova Scotia to appoint an arbitrator;

- d. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding upon the Region and the Union, provided however that the arbitrator shall not have the power to alter, add to, delete from, modify or amend the terms of this Agreement in any respect whatsoever;
- e. Should the parties disagree as to the meaning of the decision, either party may apply to the arbitrator to clarify the decision which the arbitrator shall do within one (1) month;
- f. The Region and the Union shall share equally the expense of the sole arbitrator;
- g. The Region or the Union may opt for a three-person arbitration board. This option must be indicated in the notice of intention to proceed to arbitration, along with a nominee to serve on the arbitration board;
- h. Within one (1) week after receiving such notice, the other party shall advise the party giving notice the name of their nominee to serve on the board;
- i. Within one (1) week of giving the notice in (h), the two nominees shall select a third person to act as Chair. Should such chair not be appointed within five (5) working days, or should the appointees be unable to agree on a Chairperson, then either one may apply to the Minister of Labour of Nova Scotia to appoint a Chair;
- j. The party opting for the three-person board shall pay for the cost of the Chair as well as its own nominee.
- 7. All references to "days" in this Article shall mean week days.
- 8. All disciplinary matters of sworn members covered under the Police Act shall be dealt with by the region in accordance with the Police Act, R.S. N.S. 1989, c.348, its regulations thereunder and any subsequent amendments to this legislation. The final disposition of disciplinary matters under these procedures and provisions shall be final and binding on the parties and not arbitrable under this Agreement.
- 9. The Region shall show just cause to demote, suspend, or discharge, for disciplinary and non-disciplinary reasons, members who are not included under the Police Act.
- 10. Non-disciplinary discharges of any member of the bargaining unit shall be dealt with in accordance with this Article and employees shall have the right to grieve in accordance with the procedure arbitration as outlined herein.

Article 30 Cadet Service

The Region and the Union agree that there will be no cadets, other than those who do their on the job training from the Halifax Regional Police Service or other accredited training institution.

Article 31 Acting Rank

Any employee who is assigned to an acting rank position shall receive the rate for all such hours worked at the next lowest level of pay for the rank in which the member is acting.

Article 32 Seniority

- 1. Employees shall accumulate seniority from their first day of employment within the bargaining unit.
- 2. Seniority shall be determined according to the following factors, in the following order:
 - a. Rank
 - b. Date of Promotion
 - c. Date of Hire; and
 - d. In alphabetical Order of the member's name.
- 3. An employee who ceases employment in the bargaining unit shall lose all seniority. In the event of re-engagement, they shall have no claim to time worked prior to their leaving.
- 4. Notwithstanding Article 32(1), employees shall maintain the same seniority ranking amongst other employees from the same predecessor bargaining unit, as reflected in Schedule "B". Where there is a conflict in seniority ranking between (1) and Schedule "B", Schedule "B" shall be determinative. If however, either of two employees are promoted, the relative rankings in Schedule "B" are no longer relevant and 32 (1) shall be determinative.
- 5. Where an employee is in receipt of long term disability benefits, injury leave, sick leave, maternity leave, and suspension, seniority shall continue to accrue.
- 6. In the event of a reduction in the work force the Region agrees:
 - a. to discuss with the Union the methods of reducing the bargaining unit, including early retirement and attrition;
 - b. where the Region determines layoffs are necessary, layoffs shall be in reverse order of service. Service shall be calculated as the employee's start date of employment in the bargaining unit. For greater clarity, in the event of layoff of an employee from any of the lists below, the most junior employee on such list will be the first person laid off.
 - i. Police Officer including Police Officers who become civilians
 - ii. Emergency Response Communicators (Full and Part Time)
 - iii. All other employees
- 7. Recall of employees from any of the above lists shall be in reverse order of layoff, provided the employee is presently able to demonstrate possession of the qualifications and skills of the position as determined by the Region, to obtain normal security clearances, and meet the provincial standards for employment.
- 8. Civilian members who apply and are accepted as Police Officers shall be credited with service but not seniority.
- 9. No sworn member shall be reduced in rank as a result of layoffs.
- 10. New hires, regardless of service outside the bargaining unit, shall not be credited seniority. However, the Chief of Police may, based on past service, allow a new hire to commence employment with a salary at any of the Constable salary steps.

Article 33 Transfers

1. A "transfer" occurs when a member's duties are terminated in one Division and duties within another Division are assigned. For the purposes of this Article, "Divisions" are as

designated below in Article 33, 1 (a) through (e). Lateral moves within one of the identified Divisions below is not a transfer. The Region shall not restructure for the sole purpose of avoiding the requirements of this Article. Nothing in this Article will prohibit the Region from restructuring the Police Service for any reason.

- a. Office of the Chief of Police A Transfer to the Office of the Chief of Police will be open to all members. A transfer notice shall be posted as per Article 33 (3) below. The selection of any member to work in the Office of the Chief of Police will be the sole discretion of the Chief of Police.
- b. Administration Division
- c. Support Division
- d. Criminal Investigations Division
- e. Patrol Division
- 2. A member who transfers into one of the following positions shall serve the minimum period as established in the posting;
 - Identification Unit
 - Polygraph
 - Technical/Computer Forensics
 - K-9 Unit
 - Accident Investigation
- 3. A transfer notice shall be sent by way of electronic mail to all members. Members wishing to transfer shall apply to the Chief of Police or the Chief of Police's designate within 14 days of the notice being sent.
- 4. Transfers shall be determined by demonstrated skill and ability of the employee based on reasonable testing and standards determined by the region. Applicants with the highest score will be awarded the transfer unless another applicant of comparable skill and ability is senior to them. For the purposes of this article, applicants who score within 15% of the highest mark and who score above the passing mark are considered comparable. Where a list is created, applicants who score within the 15% referenced above will be ranked in order of seniority. Applicants who achieve passing marks but do not score within 15% of the highest score will be ranked in order of seniority but separate from those in the top 15%. The region agrees to post skill and ability qualification and the demonstration testing standards and procedures in the transfer posting. [2020]
- 5. The Chief or their designate may assign members of the Chief's choice to positions in the drug section, vice section, or training section based on operational requirements only, for periods not to exceed one year. Such transfers shall not be renewed without the agreement of the Union.
- 6. The Chief or their designate may assign a member of the Chief's choice for an operational requirement for a period of less than 30 calendar days. This period may be extended to 90 calendar days with the agreement of the Union.
- 7. The Union agrees that the selection process for the Emergency Response Team, Tactical Team, Polygraph Unit and K-9 Unit will be based on skill and ability only.
- 8. The Union agrees that any member may be moved if the employer is accommodating an injured member.

- 9. A member who transfers out of a division subsequent to the signing of this collective agreement shall not be permitted to return to that division earlier than two (2) years from the date of transfer. Exceptions may be made where organizational needs require an earlier return to the division. [2020]
- 10. The Region agrees to post an expression of interest every April requesting members currently working in the Patrol Division and units identified below within the Support Division to identify their interest in a lateral move to units identified below as well as the Quick Response Unit and Community Response Officer Unit within the Patrol Division.
 - Aviation Security Unit
 - Ports Unit
 - Community Relations and Crime Prevention including Mounted Unit and Mobile Mental Health Crisis Team
 - Liquor Enforcement Unit
 - Traffic Unit
 - Extra Duty Office

Notwithstanding Article 33(1), any resulting moves between units in Patrol and units in the Support Divisions in accordance with 33.10 will be considered lateral moves for the purpose of this article. [2020]

Article 34 Police Vehicles

- 1. An employee shall not be responsible for washing any police vehicle, interior or exterior.
- 2. An employee in the Mounted Section shall be responsible for the grooming of their horse in the absence of a stableperson but shall not be required to clean the stables.
- 3. No member shall be required to pay for any damages to police vehicles. This article does not preclude discipline under the Police Act for damage to vehicles.

Article 35 Confidential Information about Employee

- All employees shall be entitled to see all documentation and information on their personnel file by appointment during office hours, and be permitted to have a copy of all information on their personnel file, other than information gathered in the recruiting process.
- Letters of warning, criticism, or reprimand will not be relied upon by the Employer after thirty-six (36) months, provided no additional adverse reports are written within the thirtysix (36) month period. The employee may also request removal of such items from the employee's file in those circumstances.

Article 36 Police Act, Regulations and Departmental Orders

- 1. The Region shall make available to all employees, copies of the Nova Scotia Police Act and Regulations, and all Administrative Orders.
- 2. All departmental orders shall be posted on the bulletin board and/or posted electronically with a copy to the Union, and it shall be the employee's duty to familiarize themselves with posted orders from time to time.

Article 37 Wages

- 1. Wages shall be as set forth in **Schedule** "**C**" attached hereto.
- 2. Employees shall be paid their salary in accordance with the attached bi-weekly schedule.
- 3. All employees shall be paid by way of direct deposit.

Article 38 Copies of Collective Agreement

- 1. The Region shall provide copies of this agreement to all new employees in the bargaining unit.
- 2. The Region shall maintain the collective agreement on the internal computer system.

Article 39 Employee & Family Assistance Program Committee

- The Region and Union agree to establish an Employee and Family Assistance Program Committee, comprised of the following representatives: one member appointed by the Region and one member appointed by the Halifax Regional Police Association. [2020]
- 2. The Region 's representative shall be the Halifax Regional Police Service designate. The representative of the Association shall be the President of the Union or their designate.
- 3. The purpose of this Committee is to assist members of the Association who have difficulties in the areas of stress, alcoholism and drug abuse, financial matters and marital problems, whenever assistance is requested by any member. Representatives of the Union shall suffer no loss of pay for attending such meetings.

Article 40 Shift Differential

A shift differential shall be paid to all employees for all regularly scheduled shift hours worked between 6:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. This benefit shall be paid in a lump sum once a year on the pay day immediately prior to Christmas. The amount shall be \$1.00 per hour.

Article 41 Occupational Health & Safety Committee

- 1. The Region and the Union agree to establish an Occupational Health and Safety Committee comprised of at least the following: Two senior representatives of the employer and two representatives of the HRPA Executive.
- 2. The Committee shall hold meetings on a regular monthly basis, or as frequently as the Committee may determine. Representatives of the Union shall suffer no loss of pay for attending such meetings. The Union shall have absolute discretion over who it appoints as representatives on the committee; however, no more than two (2) members at any one meeting shall be paid for off-duty attendance.
- 3. The Committee shall be notified of all accidents and injuries within the Department.

- 4. The recommendations of the O.H.S. Committee shall be communicated to the Chief of Police.
- 5. The Region and the Union are committed to their respective duties and responsibilities under the Occupational Health and Safety Act.

Article 42 Standby

- 1. The Union agrees that the Region can establish a mandatory standby list in order to have members available. Members placed on the mandatory standby list will be utilized in a rotation in order to ensure that there is an equal opportunity to be on standby.
- 2. Employees on standby shall be compensated at the rate of three (3) hours pay for each twenty-four (24) hours of standby.
- 3. Employees shall not be required to be on standby for more than seven consecutive days.
- 4. Employees on standby shall be provided with a vehicle.
- 5. Employees on standby must be within one (1) hour of the station.
- 6. Employees will not be required to be on standby when on Vacation.

Article 43 Sick leave

- 1. Members shall accumulate sick leave at the rate of 12 hours per month to a maximum of 1200 hours.
- 2. Sick leave means the period of time an employee is absent from work with full pay by virtue of being sick or disabled, confined by Doctor's orders due to contagious disease, or under treatment of a physician, chiropractor, dentist, psychologist or psychiatrist.
- 3. If requested by the Region, members claiming sick leave shall submit to appropriate examinations by physicians appointed by the Region. The Region shall pay all medical expenses not covered under the employee's medical plan for any examinations or test as directed by the employer. Such physicians shall confirm the members incapacitation and such other information as reasonably requested by the Region through Health Services or the physician appointed by the Region. The Region may require members on sick leave to be approved for full operational duties by a physician appointed by the Region before returning to duty.
- 4. A record of accumulated and used sick time will be kept by the Region. Each employee's own sick time accumulation will be shown on their pay stubs.
- 5. Members on any type of leave during which they accrue seniority, including sick leave, shall accrue sick leave.
- 6. Additional Sick Leave:
 - a. In the event that an employee uses up all accumulated sick leave they may apply to the Chief of Police for additional sick leave. An employee who has exhausted their sick leave credits, shall first use the balance remaining in their overtime bank and thereafter may request an extension of sick leave, which may be granted by the Chief. Such extensions, if given, shall not be for a period any longer than one hundred and twenty (120) hours and will be recovered at the rate of 6 hours per month of sick leave accumulated upon the employee's return to work until the advance is fully repaid. This article

does not apply to an employee whose claim for injury under WCB has been denied. [2020]

- b. The employee may have Union representation during such meetings with the Chief. The Chief will respond to the request with a written report, copied to the employee and the Union attendee.
- c. The decision of the Chief in the matter of additional sick leave entitlement is final, binding and non-arbitral.
- 7. Employees working the 12 hour shift schedule will have 46 hours of sick time deducted from their sick bank for each complete cycle they are on sick leave.
- 8. Members who retire with time in their sick bank shall be entitled to benefits as per article 14.10.

Article 44 Injury Leave Sworn Officers

- 1. All members shall be covered by the Workers' Compensation Board (WCB) in accordance with the Workers' Compensation Act (WCA) and Regulations for all workplace injuries. Except as provided below, this shall be an exclusive remedy and shall be in full and final satisfaction of any claim which the member may have against the Region or its employees, either during the member's employment or afterward, with respect to that injury. If a sworn member loses time due to an injury on duty, the member shall receive full wages and there shall be no stoppage of income except as outlined herein and there shall be no reduction in the member's sick bank while in receipt of WCB Benefits. Sworn members injured at work must apply for any income replacement benefits available to them from WCB. Sworn members whose claims are accepted by WCB shall receive the "top up" as set out herein. Sworn members who were on Injury Leave at the date that this article came into effect and receiving benefits (OJI Benefits) and are not eligible for WCB Benefits in respect of a pre-existing injury for which they were receiving OJI Benefits, shall remain eligible to claim OJI Benefits in accordance with this Article.
- 2. When a sworn member is off work due to an accident or occupational illness resulting from their employment and which is approved as compensable by the Workers' Compensation Board, and the sworn member is in receipt of Earnings Replacement Benefits (ERB) from WCB, the Employer shall top up the Earning Replacement Benefit (ERB) to 100% of the sworn member's pre-accident net earnings as modified by subsequent collective agreements provided the sworn member has fully cooperated with WCB in respect of the injury leave claim. Pre-accident net earnings means that the member's take home pay shall be identical to the take home pay that the member would have received had they remained at work including any increases in salary or benefits resulting from new collective agreements. Appropriate deductions shall continue to be made by HRM.
- The top up benefits shall include the coverage for any waiting period under the WCA and shall continue until the earlier of: the sworn member is no longer in receipt of Earnings Replacement Benefits (ERB) from the WCB; or the sworn member is accommodated; or

the sworn member becomes eligible to retire to an unreduced pension under the Halifax Regional Municipality (HRM) Pension Plan. Where a claim for injury on duty is not accepted by WCB and all appeals exhausted, income advanced to the member will be recovered in reduction of accumulated sick leave and as an overpayment of salary. However, where the claim is not accepted because the injury is determined to be preexisting such that the employee is entitled to Injury Leave (OJI) benefits as provided in this Article, there will be no reduction in sick leave or recovery of income advanced.

- 4. All sworn members who, at the effective date of Workers' Compensation coverage, are either off work on Injury Leave and receiving OJI Benefits (OJI Employees) or working and receiving OJI Benefits will not be entitled to WCB Benefits in respect of the injury for which they are receiving OJI Benefits. On return to work from Injury Leave, OJI Employees will be eligible to claim WCB Benefits in respect of occupational injuries. OJI Employees who are working and in receipt of OJI Benefits will be eligible to claim WCB Benefits in respect of occupational injuries. OJI Employees who are working and in receipt of OJI Benefits will be eligible to claim WCB Benefits in respect of occupational injuries. Should the Board refuse a claim from either an OJI Employee who has returned to work following receipt of OJI Benefits, or an employee who is working but in receipt of or previously in receipt of OJI Benefits, on the basis that it is a pre-existing occupational injury, then the employee shall be eligible to claim a continuation of OJI Benefits. The Municipality may at its discretion require the employee to exhaust the WCB mechanisms for appealing the refusal. Employees shall be entitled to salary continuation and all other benefits including medical and other benefits of the collective agreement in accordance with this Article until final determination of entitlement.
- 5. For those employees who remain eligible to claim Injury Leave and OJI Benefits in accordance with this Article, if requested by the Region, the member on Injury Leave shall submit to appropriate examinations by physicians appointed by the Region. Such physicians shall report to the Disability Case Manager on the member's functional abilities and recommended medical treatment. The Region may require those members on injury leave to be approved for full police operational duties by a physician appointed by the Region clears an employee for return to work with accommodated duties or in an accommodated position as provided in paragraph 7 hereto, the employee shall be required to work the duties or in the position.
- 6. The parties agree to the following medical review process to determine the functional abilities of employees receiving OJI Benefits, either for the purpose of accommodation or for continuing receipt of OJI Benefits. If requested by the Municipality, the employee shall be required to submit to an Independent Medical Examination (IME) by health practitioners appointed by the Municipality. Where there is disagreement with the findings, either party can request the appointment of a Medical Review Panel composed of three medical practitioners, one appointed by each party, and a chair selected by those practitioners. When there is a dispute as to whether an employee can be accommodated or whether OJI Benefits should continue, based on the employee's medical condition and functional abilities, the dispute shall be remitted to the panel to determine whether the

employee is able to return to an accommodated position and if so, what are the necessary accommodations. The majority decision of the panel shall be determinative of those questions for the purpose of any decision of whether any offer of accommodation is reasonable, including in any referral to arbitration of the question of whether an accommodation is reasonable in accordance with paragraph 7 hereto. The cost of the Chair of the Medical Review Panel shall be shared between the parties.

- 7. The parties express their mutual agreement to the return to productive work of all employees who sustain workplace injuries. The parties recognize that it is a mutual obligation of the parties to accommodate the return to work of employees who are on Injury Leave because of occupational injury. The return to work shall attempt to be in the original position of the employee modified as an accommodation, or failing that possibility, other accommodation in a position within Halifax Regional Police (HRP) or the Municipality, that reasonably accommodates the employee. The parties agree that any temporary accommodation for employees shall cease after 24 months and after which accommodation may be permanent and may be outside the bargaining unit. All reasonable efforts shall be made to accommodate the employee in HRP. If the employee is unable to return to a position in the department, then reasonable efforts shall be made to accommodate the employee in another bargaining unit or non-union position within the Municipality. If the employee refuses to accept a reasonable accommodation, this shall be deemed as a resignation by the employee. Should the Municipality and the Halifax Regional Police Association (HRPA) disagree on whether an accommodation offered is reasonable, having regard to the functional abilities of the employee as determined in accordance with paragraph 6 hereto, then that issue may be determined by an arbitrator.
- 8. The OJI Employees off work on Injury Leave and receiving OJI Benefits on the effective date of WCB coverage shall be those agreed upon by the Employer and Union in an Appendix A maintained separately from this Agreement.
- 9. Notwithstanding Article 44 of the Collective Agreement, all OJI Employees in Appendix "A" who are not accommodated in accordance with paragraph 7 and who remain off work on Injury Leave with OJI Benefits, shall be required to retire 3 years after their earliest unreduced retirement date, hereinafter referred to as their date of retirement or retirement date, at which time their OJI Benefits will cease and HRM will have no further obligation to the employee.
- 10. Until the date of retirement, OJI Employees in Appendix "A" shall receive all the benefits that they would have received had they been covered by WCB. Notwithstanding the foregoing employees on OJI shall receive all the increases and benefits of subsequent collective agreements. These benefits shall exhaust completely at the date of their retirement and the Municipality shall have no further financial responsibility to provide any post-retirement benefits for employees who received OJI Benefits, other than as provided for in paragraph 11 herein.

- 11. HRM shall contribute \$25,000 annually to the HRPA Benefit Trust on the first day of April each year commencing when the first of the OJI Employees in Appendix "A" retires and continuing to the earlier of the last person in Appendix "A" either returning to work or retiring or 10 years. The contributions shall be used to offset post-retirement benefits for Appendix "A" members until retirement in accordance with paragraph 10.
- 12. Notwithstanding the generality of the foregoing, the jurisdiction to decide if OJI Employees are receiving the benefits they are entitled to receive had they been covered by WCB, pursuant to paragraph 10 herein and the question of whether any accommodation is reasonable, shall be referred to an arbitrator selected by mutual agreement of the parties. The question of whether any accommodation is reasonable shall be decided using the medical evidence provided in accordance with the medical review process outlined in paragraph 6 hereto. The Workers' Compensation Board retains jurisdiction to decide whether employees are entitled to Workers' Compensation in respect of any occupational injury and if so, the appropriate level of benefits in respect of that injury.
- 13. Employees shall permit the Region or its agents to subrogate against any third party where the member is in receipt of benefits under this Article.
- 14. When in receipt of benefits under this Article, members shall be deemed to be on day shift.

Injury Leave Civilians

- 15. Civilian employees shall be covered by the Worker's Compensation Act and receive benefits pursuant to that Act, and there shall be no reduction in the employee's sick bank while in receipt of Worker's Compensation Benefits.
- 16. IES Civilian employees who are covered by the Worker's Compensation Act and who meet the definition of Section 12A(1)(a) of the Worker's Compensation Act shall be entitled to the WCB top up at 90% of their pre accident net earnings. [2020]
- 17. If requested by the Region, employees on injury leave shall submit to appropriate examinations by physicians appointed by the Region. Such physicians shall only report to the Region on the employee's ability to perform the job. The Region may require employees on injury leave to be approved for full operational duties by a physician appointed by the Region before returning to duty.
- 18. Employees shall permit the Region or its agents to subrogate against any third party where the member is in receipt of benefits under the Article.
- 19. When in receipt of benefits under this Article, members shall be deemed to be on day shift.

20. In the event that an employee receives an injury on duty and is required to use the medical plan to pay the expenses for the treatment and further, in the event that the employee exhausts their medical plan coverage, or experiences a further injury within the same year, which is not covered by this article, and there is insufficient benefit remaining in their medical plan to provide treatment, the employer shall, to the extent required, cover the lesser of, the amount utilized for the treatment for the prior injury on duty approved within the plan, or for such amount as not to exceed the plan maximum specified coverage in a calendar year.

Article 45 Pregnancy, Parental, Adoption Leave

- 1. Employees shall be granted pregnancy, parental, and adoption leave in accordance with the provisions of this collective agreement unless increased benefits are provided by the provisions of the Labour Standards Code of the Province of Nova Scotia.
- 2. Pregnancy, parental and adoption leave shall be deemed to be continuous employment for the accrual of seniority, service, and sick leave. Vacation shall accrue for a maximum of 12 months of leave. [2020]
- 3. Employees on pregnancy, parental and adoption leave under this article shall make arrangements with the Employer to:

(a) Deduct all benefit contributions for which the employee is responsible, and those which the employee must continue and further those which they may choose to continue, covering the period of the employee's leave. The deductions may be taken from the employee's pays prior to the commencement of the leave or the employee may pay by cash or cheque in advance of or during the leave. [2020]

(b) Prior to commencing leave the employee must confirm to the Employer in writing their election between two pension options:

(i) The employee may opt to continue credited service which will result in the Employer paying all contributions to the Pension Plan covering the employee's period of leave and the employee authorizing the Employer to collect the employee's share of the contributions from the employee after their return to work from pregnancy, parental and adoption leave. The contributions will be repaid by the employee not later than 39 pay periods, depending on the length of the leave, or such earlier time if the employee decides to make earlier repayment. Notwithstanding any other provision in the collective agreement, an employee who has elected the option to continue credited service during pregnancy, parental and adoption leave may upon returning to work cash out the vacation accrued during the period of such leave. [2020]

(ii) The employee may opt out of credited service for pension purposes for the duration of their pregnancy, parental and adoption leave and accepts that opting out of credited service for pension purposes is for the duration of leave taken which will require that the employee must, in order to buy back the period opted out,

notwithstanding any provision of the Collective Agreement, including Article 50, purchase such service pursuant to the purchase of service provisions of the HRM pension plan.

(iii) For greater clarity where an employee has not confirmed in writing prior their election as between the two pension options in (i) or (ii) above they are deemed to have elected option (ii).

4. An employee returning from leave shall retain their rights as outlined in this Collective Agreement.

Pregnancy Leave

- 5. Upon the request of the employee and presentation of a certificate by the employee's legally qualified medical doctor stating that the employee is pregnant and specifying the date upon which delivery is expected, the employee may, at their option, commence pregnancy leave at any time during a period which commences sixteen (16) weeks before the expected date of delivery and which ends on the actual date of delivery. When possible, the employee shall provide four (4) weeks' notice prior to the expected leave date.
- 6. Notwithstanding Article 45(5), the Employer may require that an employee begin a leave of absence earlier than the time set out therein if the employee cannot reasonably perform her duties or if the employee's work is materially affected by the pregnancy.
- 7. Pregnancy, in itself, is not a sickness for the purposes of the sick leave provisions of this collective agreement, however, sickness arising as a result of pregnancy or during pregnancy is a sickness for all purposes of this collective agreement.
- 8. Where working conditions may be hazardous to the fetus or the pregnant employee, the Employer shall endeavor to provide alternative safe employment at no reduction in pay or benefits for the period of the pregnancy.
- 9. Subject to Article 45 (5), pregnancy leave shall be, at the choice of the employee, up to sixteen (16) weeks duration and shall end not sooner than one (1) week after the actual date of delivery and not later than sixteen (16) weeks after the pregnancy leave began.
- 10. Should an Employee have a multiple birth the rate and length of maternity leave remains the same. [2020]

Parental/Adoption Leave

- 11. Upon the birth or adoption of a child, the spouse of the person giving birth, including same sex and common-law spouse, shall be entitled to two (2) working days leave of absence with pay which may be taken, at the option of the employee, at any time commencing as early as the date of hospitalization or delivery and ending on the sixth day after the child arrives home. It shall be the employee's option whether or not to take this leave consecutively. [2020]
- 12. An employee who becomes a parent through the birth of a child or the placement of a child in the care of the employee for the purpose of adoption pursuant to the laws of the province or through guardianship, is entitled to an unpaid leave of absence of, at the

employee's choice, up to seventy-seven (77) weeks or, in the case of adoption, any longer period required by the adoption agency or the province. Unless the employee has taken Pregnancy Leave immediately before the Parental Leave, the employee shall endeavor to provide reasonable notice four weeks' notice to the employer of the date on which the employee intends to start the leave and the date on which they intend to return, provided that if circumstances beyond the control of the employee dictate a change to those dates, the employee shall advise the Employer of the changed dates as soon as reasonably possible. The maximum combined Pregnancy and Parental Leave to which an employee is entitled is seventy-seven (77) weeks. [2020]

- 13. In the case of a new born child, an employee may begin parental leave anytime following the birth of a child provided that the leave shall end seventy-seven (77) weeks following its commencement or 18 months after the birth of the child, whichever is earlier. This leave will be uninterrupted. In the case of the adoption of a child or guardianship, the employee may begin parental leave, at the employee's option, at any time required by the adoption agency or upon arrival of the child in the employee's home, provided that the leave shall end at the end of the time required by the adoption agency or 18 months after the leave began, which ever is earlier, provided that the employee is entitled to a minimum amount of up to seventy-seven (77) uninterrupted weeks leave. [2020]
- 14. Notwithstanding the foregoing, where an employee has begun parental leave and the child to whom parental leave relates is hospitalized for a period exceeding or likely to exceed one (1) week, the employee is entitled to return to and resume work in their position and defer the unused portion of the parental leave until the child is discharged from hospital. An employee is entitled to only one (1) interruption and deferral of each parental leave.

Pregnancy Leave Allowance

- 15. An employee entitled to pregnancy leave under the provisions of this collective agreement and who provides the Employer with proof that they have applied for and is are entitled to receive Employment Insurance benefits pursuant to the Employment Insurance Act, shall be paid an allowance in accordance with the Supplementary Unemployment Benefit (SUB) provisions of the Act and the following subsections:
 - a. Where the employee is subject to a waiting period of one (1) week before receiving EI benefits, payment equivalent to ninety-three percent (93%) of the employee's weekly rate of pay, less applicable deductions, for the one (1) week waiting period, less any other earnings received by the employee during the benefit period.
 - b. Up to a maximum of fifteen (15) additional weeks, payments equivalent to the difference between the weekly EI benefit the employee is eligible to receive ninety-three percent (93%) of the employee's weekly rate of pay, less applicable deductions, less any other earnings received by the employee during the benefit period which may result in a decrease in the EI benefits to which an employee would have been eligible if no other earnings had been received during the period. For the purpose of these allowances an employee's weekly rate of pay will be one-half (½) of the bi-weekly rate of pay to which the employee is entitled

for their classification on the date immediately preceding the commencement of her pregnancy leave.

- c. Any employee who is entitled to Pregnancy Leave and serves a one (1) week waiting period before receiving EI, shall, immediately following the conclusion of their EI entitlement, also be entitled to the cash value of ninety-three percent (93%) of their weekly salary, less applicable deductions for a second week. At the employee's option this entitlement may be taken as dollars, or as time off in lieu, or may be put towards any outstanding pension contributions the employee chooses to make, in accordance with the HRM pension plan provisions. The employee must make their selection prior to the end of their EI entitlement period. If the employee opts to take the value as time off in lieu, the time off must be taken within twelve (12) months. If the time off is not taken within twelve (12) months, it will be cashed out at its dollar value at time at which it was awarded.
- 16. Where the employee becomes eligible for a negotiated pay increase during the benefit period, benefits under the SUB will be adjusted accordingly.
- 17. The Employer will not reimburse the employee for any amount the employee is required to remit to Human Resources Development Canada or other government agency, where such remittance is required under the provisions of the Employment Insurance Act due to the employee's annual income.
- 18. Pregnancy Leave Allowance provisions take effect on the signing date of this collective agreement for employees who begin their pregnancy leave on or after that date.

Article 46 Expenses

- 1. All members who voluntarily agree to use their private vehicles for Region business shall receive remuneration as per the policy of the Halifax Regional Municipality.
- All members required to perform their duties outside the old boundaries known as City of Halifax, Dartmouth, the Town of Bedford, Sackville, Cole Harbour or Eastern Passage, shall be reimbursed for reasonable meal and accommodation expenses. Receipts must be provided.

Article 47 Funeral Expenses

The Region shall contribute fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000.00) towards funeral expenses for all employees who die at any time as a result of any injury sustained while on duty.

Article 48 Succession Plan Severance for Police Officers

- 1. The Union and Employer agree that long term succession planning is vital to an effective
- 2. Police Service and the safety of the citizens within HRM. Succession planning allows the Police Service to plan for future hiring and promotions within the Police Service ranks.
- After twenty (20) years of continuous service, and upon giving written notice to the Chief of Police of their retirement date, these employees shall be entitled to the severance package. It will be calculated on the basis of six calendar days per year, up to a

maximum of 180 calendar days. This severance amount shall calculated based on the lesser amount of their annual salary, or up to the maximum cap within the pension plan.

- 4. The Union agrees that all of their members are required to give 6 months notice of their retirement date, in writing, to the Chief of Police. Employees giving less than 6 months notice shall only receive 50% of the value of their severance. For example, an employee would have to give notice of their intention to retire on January 1, 2009, then they would be able to retire on July 1, 2009 and receive their full severance. (Pre-retirement leave is not part of the six months notice)
- 5. Officers who submit their notice of retirement and subsequently retract that notice will only be entitled to half the value of their severance package on their actual retirement date.
- 6. This benefit can be taken in time or money. Employees who choose to take this benefit in money shall receive a lump sum payment within 30 days following retirement.
- 7. Former Dartmouth Police Officers as listed in Memorandum of Understanding #9 will have the option to choose either the benefits listed in this Article (48) or the benefits as listed in MOU #9. Those officers who choose the benefits as outlined in MOU #9 will forego all benefits outlined in Articles 16 and 48.

Article 49 Assisting Other Police Agencies

- 1. When members assist other agencies they shall be entitled to all benefits under this collective agreement provided:
 - a. When possible, permission of the Chief of Police has been requested and granted;
 - b. When on duty, the member shall not provide such assistance outside of Nova Scotia, unless permission has been granted by the Chief of Police; and
 - c. When off duty, and when it is not possible to obtain permission of the Chief of Police, such assistance shall only be provided when there is a reasonable expectation of bodily harm or death.

Article 50 Pensions

- 1. HRM recognizes on April 1, 1996, the pension plans of the City of Halifax, City of Dartmouth, the Town of Bedford, the Halifax County Municipality and the Metropolitan Authority were consolidated into one plan known as the HRM Plan
- 2. Subject to the HRM Pension Plan provisions, all employees shall be provided the benefits elected under the new HRM Plan in accordance with the plan provisions.
- 3. In accordance with the HRM Pension plan rules and eligibility, all new employees shall become members of the HRM Plan.
- 4. The parties agree that the Halifax Regional Municipality Pension Plan (the "Plan") may be amended from time to time in accordance with the text for the Plan. [2020]
- 5. The normal retirement age for a Police Officer shall be age sixty. If a Police Officer wishes to stay past the age of sixty, they shall be sent for annual medicals at the employers' expense, to a physician appointed by the Region. If there is a health issue identified that would prohibit them from continuing to work as a Police Officer they can

continue to work in an accommodated job, or retire. If retiring they are entitled to the benefits of succession leave, the employer agrees to waives the notice period.

- 6. Part-time employees shall be entitled to join the pension plan after 1 year of employment, subject to the rules of the Pension Plan.
- 7. Employees of this bargaining unit are either required to have a rule of 80 or a rule of 75 as defined within the pension plan.
- Employees eligible for the rule of 75 are defined within the pension plan as those employees in a Public Safety Occupation. Public Safety Occupation means a sworn officer in the Police Service or the Fire Service of the Municipality. All Police Officers, Booking Officers and Court Liaison Officers are sworn officers. All Police Officers, Booking Officers and Court Liaison Officers hired after amalgamation shall have the rule of 75.

Article 51 Promotions

- 1. Promotions will be made on the basis of skill and ability.
- 2. The promotional routine for the rank of Sergeant shall be as follows:
 - a. Only officers with 6 years of completed service with the Halifax Regional Police service at the time of the posting shall be eligible to participate.
 - b. The routine shall be posted by way of electronic mail.
 - c. The pass mark for an examination shall be 80%.
 - d. The Region shall interview all candidates who pass the written examination
 - e. The pass mark for the interview shall be 80%. The make-up of the interview may include role play, in-basket tests and formal interview.
 - f. The promotional list shall be comprised of all candidates who successfully complete the promotional routine, in order of seniority.
 - g. The promotional list shall expire 4 years from the date it was posted.
 - h. The Chief may deviate from the promotional list for cause.
- 3. The promotional routine for Staff Sergeants will consist of an examination/s and/or interview/s as determined appropriate by the Region. The promotional routine for Staff sergeant shall only be open to Sergeants. All Sergeants who meet the minimum posting requirements will be eligible to participate in the promotional routine.

Article 52 Contracting Out

- 1. For the purposes of this Agreement "Contracting Out" occurs only when positions in the bargaining unit are eliminated as a result of a transfer of a bargaining unit function to a new employer. Nothing in this Article shall limit the Region's right to contract out.
- 2. The Region shall give the union as much notice as reasonably possible when bargaining unit positions are intended to be contracted out.

- 3. Members whose functions are contracted out and who are not hired by the new employer shall receive one month of severance for every completed year of service to a maximum of 15 months.
- 4. Members entitled to severance in Article 52 (3) may opt for either of the following:
 - a. a lump sum severance payment, in which case members would forego seniority and recall rights; or
 - b. payment of severance as salary continuance (with no continuation of any benefits), in which case members would retain seniority and recall rights for the period of salary continuance.
- 5. Members who commence re-employment before the expiry of the number of months calculated in 52(3) must receive approval from the Chief of Police and waive or reimburse the Region for any severance for the time remaining.
- 6. The severance in Article 52 (3) satisfies all of HRM's liabilities in relation to the loss of employment with HRM as a result of the contracting out.

Article 53 Police Reserves

- 1. The parties agree that the utilization of trained Police Reserves shall be restricted in the following manner:
 - c. Only trained qualified recruits from the employer's cadet program shall be utilized for the Police Reserves.
 - d. Police Reserves shall be members of HRPA.
 - e. The region shall not employ any more than 16 Police Reserves at one time for the duration of this collective agreement.
 - f. Police Reserves will participate in the HRPA Benefit Plan.
 - g. Police Reserves shall work a minimum of 48 hours bi-weekly to a maximum of 64 hours bi-weekly.
 - h. Police Reserves shall work a minimum of a 6 hour shift.
 - i. Police Reserves shall receive 4% vacation pay for the period of their employment and will not be eligible for Vacation Leave.
 - j. Police Reserves shall only work in the Patrol Division on the watches with the exception of the following: as gate security at the Port of Halifax.
 - k. All new police hires of the Department shall be from the employer's cadet program. There shall be no lateral hires into the Department when a trained list from the employer's cadet program remains in effect, without the consent of the Union.
 - I. Trained Police Reserves shall not be used to forego or delay the employment of regular full-time Police Officers. The parties specifically agree that for each vacancy created in the complement of the department, the Employer will take one trained person from the employer's cadet program or Police Reserve list.
 - m. Trained Police Reserves shall not work as a one person unit.
 - n. The wage rate for the Police Reserves shall be in accordance with Schedule
 C and pay raises will be at the same percentage as the rest of the bargaining unit. The employer shall contribute to the benefit plan. With the exception of

vacation pay, court call out, and legal defence, no other financial provisions of the collective agreement shall apply.

- o. Police Reserves shall be covered under the Workers Compensation Board (WCB).
- p. When Police Reserves are hired as full-time Police Constables, their hours worked as Police Reserves shall be calculated and those hours shall be allocated to the starting rate of pay and service benefits under the terms of the collective agreement. The start of their probationary period shall be the date they are hired as full-time Police Constables.
- q. For greater clarity, Police Reserves are only entitled to the benefits outlined above in 53 (1)(a)-(n). Police Reserves are not entitled to the following benefits contained in the collective agreement:

Article 7-	Hours of Work (Only hours worked are as out lined above)
Article 8-	Overtime
Article 9-	Vacation
Article 10 -	Statutory Holiday Leave
Article 11-	Shift Adjustment
Article 18 -	Call Out
Article 19 -	Call Back During Vacation
Article 20 -	Meal Hours and Allowance
Article 21 -	Service Pay
Article 31 -	Acting Rank
Article 33 -	Transfers
Article 40-	Shift Differential
Article 43 -	Sick Leave
Article 45 -	Pregnancy, Parental Adoption Leave
Article 52 -	Contracting Out
Schedule A-	Vacation, Statutory Holiday and Shift Adjustment
	Selection

Article 54 Part Time Emergency Response Communicators & Part-time Booking Officers

- 1. All provisions of this collective agreement apply to the part time Emergency Response Communicators with the exception of the following:
 - Article 7 Hours of Work (Subsections 1-9)
 - Article 9 Vacation
 - Article 10 Statutory Holiday Leave
 - Article 16 Pre-Retirement Leave
 - Article 18 Call Out
 - Article 19 Call Back During Vacation
 - Article 20 Meal Hours and Allowance
 - Article 21 Service Pay

- Article 31 Acting Rank
- Article 33 Transfers
- Article 40- Shift Differential
- Article 43 Sick Leave
- Article 45 Pregnancy, Parental, Adoption Leave
- Article 47 Funeral Expenses
- Article 52 Contracting Out
- Schedule A- Vacation, Statutory Holiday and Shift Adjustment Selection
- 2. Part-time employees will earn the following vacation entitlements:
 - a. During the first calendar year of employment, part-time employees will earn 4% vacation pay for hours worked and shall have the right to have two cycles off without pay, where they will not be required to work, the time of which shall be picked after all leave has been picked by full time staff.
 - b. At the start of the employee's second calendar year of employment, part-time employees will earn 80 hours of paid vacation to be taken in two blocks of one week. Weeks will be from Sunday to Saturday. An employee who takes a week of vacation will receive 40 hours of pay for that week.
 - c. At the start of the employee's third and subsequent calendar years of employment, part-time employees will earn 120 hours of paid vacation to be taken in three blocks of one week. Weeks will be from Sunday to Saturday. An employee who takes a week of vacation will receive 40 hours of pay for that week.
 - d. Employees required to work during their scheduled vacation shall be paid at the rate of eight hours at double time. [2020]
- 3. Part time employees shall accumulate four (4) hours of paid sick leave per month worked. After the first year of employment, part time employees shall accumulate eight (8) hours of paid sick leave per month worked. [2020]
- 4. Notwithstanding Article 54.1 or 54.9, after one year of employment, part-time employees will be entitled to overtime at the rate of double time for any time worked on a legal holiday identified in Article 10.1. [2020]
- 5. The Region and Union agree that there shall be no more than twenty (20) part time Emergency Response Communicators. [2020]
- 6. When scheduled to work, the part time Emergency Response Communicators & Booking Officers shall be scheduled a minimum of four (4) continuous hours of work per shift with a minimum of 20 hours per week. They shall work as assigned by the manager, and their schedule shall be posted two (2) weeks in advance. Part timers shall not be required to work any more than 40 hours in any week.
- 7. When full time positions become available the current part time Emergency Response Communicators & Booking Officers shall fill the vacancies by seniority provided they have satisfactory OPF's and pending any current performance issues.
- 8. Part time Employees shall be paid overtime at time and a half for all hours worked in excess of 40 hours in any week. [2020]

Article 55 Extra Duty

- 1. The Employer agrees that the Union has the right to set their own extra duty rate.
- 2. The Union agrees that the Employer has the right to charge their administration cost to the extra duty rate, and that they are bound by the extra duty policy as set by the Chief of Police and approved by the Police Commission.
- 3. The Employer will maintain extra duty lists and will pick up the list where it leaves off each time.
- 4. If extra duty work cannot be filled on a voluntary basis, the Employer shall call officers in and compensate those officers at the appropriate overtime rate. If Officers are ordered in, the Employer agrees to order them in starting in reverse order of Seniority.
- 5. The Employer agrees to maintain the call out list, the Union executive shall have the right to review the list monthly.
- 6. The Union agrees that overtime is mandatory, not voluntary.

Article 56 Discretionary Leave

The Employer agrees to grant HRPA employees the Discretionary Leave provisions granted to HRM Non-Union employees. The Non-Union Discretionary Leave Policy is as follows:

"Consideration will be given on a case by case basis to granting requests for discretionary leave, either paid or unpaid, made to address unusual circumstances. In considering such requests, managers have a responsibility to ensure that operational requirements are met. Extended periods of leave require the approval of the applicable Director or General Manager. Leave will not be granted for requests to work for another employer.

During any period of unpaid leave for which benefit coverage is continued, the employee is responsible for the full cost of benefit premiums"

The Chief of Police will review all requests for Discretionary Leave, and determine whether or not to grant the request. The decision of the Chief in the matter of granting Discretionary Leave is final, binding and non arbitral.

Article 57 Leave Request, Cancellation of Leave and Switching Shifts

- 1. When an employee has been granted time off in lieu for overtime hours banked, the Region agrees not to cancel this request within seven days of the scheduled time off.
- 2. The Union agrees that no employees' time off in lieu shall be considered to be approved prior to seven days before the day of the leave. The Region agrees to notify the employee of the approval or rejection of the request seven days prior to the requested time off in lieu date.

- 3. The Union agrees that employees can switch shifts. The employee who switches shifts and fails to show up for the agreed upon shift shall have the time deducted from their time banks. The Region will have a form developed for the purposes of identifying those who have agreed to switch shifts and the dates involved.
- 4. Employees working on the watches in IES can switch shifts up to a maximum of sixteen (16) times per calendar year. Additional shift exchanges above sixteen (16) in a calendar year may be requested and the decision will be at the sole discretion of the Chief of Police or the Chief of Police's designate. Shift exchanges may be full or half shifts (either the first six (6) hours or the last six (6) hours of a twelve (12) hour shift). If a twelve (12) hour shift is split in half for the purpose of shift switching, neither employee participating in the shift exchange will be entitled to a meal hour. [2020]

Article 58 Former Dartmouth Sick Leave

The members listed in the table below shall be entitled to, upon retirement, the cash value of the hours below times their hourly rate of pay at the time of their retirement or the benefits as outlined in Articles 16 and 48.

Member	Number of Hours
Dent, Susan	1,040
Warnell, Barry	1,040

Article 59 Watch Accommodation for Members

All efforts will be made to place two (2) parties on the Watches of their choice if they are:

- Both members of HRPA who are married and/or they are both members of HRPA who have resided in a common-law relationship for at least a period of 1 year; and
- (b) Both parties understand that this will not be possible at all times due to operational requirements

Article 60 Temporary Employees

1. APPLICATION OF COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

"Temporary Employee" means: (1) an employee who is hired to replace an employee who is absent from their permanent position where the Employer has chosen to cover off that permanent position for a period of time, or (2) an employee who is hired into a bargaining unit position for a defined period of time, neither temporary position nor temporary employee to exceed 12 months without the agreement of the Union.

Temporary Employees are not covered by any provisions of the Collective Agreement except as set out in this Article 60:

2. GENERAL CONDITIONS

- (a) Temporary Employees filling temporary positions or temporary replacements that end on the anticipated end date are not entitled to any notice.
- (b) Temporary positions or temporary replacements may be ended at any time before the anticipated end date. Temporary positions or temporary replacements that end before the anticipated end date shall receive notice in accordance with the Labour Standards Code.
- (c) Temporary Employees shall serve a one-year probationary period; during this period they may be terminated in the sole discretion of the Employer. A Temporary Employee who obtains a permanent position will serve a new probationary period upon commencement of the permanent position.

3. PAY AND BENEFITS

- (a) Temporary Employees shall be paid the 0-1 year rate of pay associated with the position they are filling.
- (b) Temporary Employees are not eligible to participate in the HRM Pension Plan.
- (c) Temporary Employees are not eligible for group medical benefits nor are their wages included for purposes of benefits funding.

4. HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

- (a) Temporary Employees will work the hours assigned by the Employer in accordance with the hours of work for the job they are filling as set out in Article 7 and are entitled to a meal hour in accordance with Article 20.
- (b) Temporary Employees are entitled to overtime pay in the same manner as employees in accordance with Article 8.
- (c) Where applicable, Temporary Employees are entitled to Court Time compensation in accordance with in Article 17.

5. LEAVES

- (a) Temporary Employees shall receive vacation pay of four per cent (4%). However, in the event of a union approved extension, an employee in a temporary position for longer than twelve (12) months is also entitled to two (2) weeks of unpaid vacation per year, the time of which shall be picked after all leave has been picked by permanent staff.
- (b) Temporary Employees shall receive holidays in accordance with Article 10.
- (c) Temporary Employees shall receive pregnancy/parental leave in accordance with the Labour Standards Code.
- (d) Temporary Employees shall be entitled to benefits in accordance with Article 12, Compassionate Leave.
- (e) Temporary Employees shall be covered by WCB; whether sworn officers or not.

6. UNION REPRESENTATION

- (a) Temporary Employees are required to pay Union dues.
- (b) Temporary Employees are covered by the grievance/arbitration process pursuant to Article 29.

Article 61 Family Emergency Leave

- 1. The Employer acknowledges that employees may require time off to respond to the following short-term, unforeseen emergency family situations, such time not to exceed 24 hours in a calendar year, beginning April 1, 2023:
 - a. Illness or injury of an employee's child that requires immediate supervision and care by a parent.
 - b. Medical problems or an accident requiring immediate hospitalization of a spouse, father, mother, father- in-law, mother-in-law, or child (all relations as defined in article 12(3)).
 - c. An emergency requiring immediate attention at the primary place of residence or immediately threatening personal belongings. Time required in this category that exceeds two hours would be required to be taken from banked time or vacation.
 - d. Any unforeseen lack of child-care or elder-care that requires the employee's immediate attention, up to a maximum of two hours. Time required in this category that exceeds two hours would be required to be taken from banked time or vacation.
- 2. In order to take Family Emergency Leave, employees must have the leave approved by their immediate supervisor. Such leave is intended to give employees adequate time to bring the situation under control. [2020]

Article 62 Duration and Termination

- This agreement shall be deemed to have come into force and effect on April 1, 2020 and shall continue in full force and effect until March 31, 2024. Entitlements to previously existing benefits that are calculated based on wage rates shall be applied retroactively from April 1, 2020, to the signing of this collective agreement. Entitlement to newly established benefits will commence with the signing of this collective agreement. [2020]
- 2. Notice will be in writing and served in the following manner;
 - a. If given by the employer, it must be served by personal service or registered mail, upon the President or the Secretary of the Union.
 - b. If given by the union, it must be served by personal service or registered mail upon the Chief Administrative Officer or the Director of Human Resources of the Halifax Regional Municipality.
 - c. When either party provides notice, or on an otherwise mutually agreeable date, collective bargaining shall commence pursuant to the provisions of the *Trade Union Act* (Nova Scotia).
- 3. This agreement may be amended at any time during its term, provided the two (2) parties sign an agreement in writing to the amendment.

Article 63 Benefit and Binding

This agreement and everything contained herein shall ensure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their successors.

HALIFAX REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED 1 In the presence of PER: MAYOR ali. eale PER: WITNESS CLERK HALIFAX REGIONAL POLICE ï ASSOCIATION PER: PRESIDENT PER: WITNESS SECRETARY ł PER:) **'VICE PRESIDENT** ¥ PER: TREASURER ł 1 PER: Y Perry Astephen DIRECTOR PER: DIRECTOR e m PER: DIRECTOR SIGNED THIS 164 DAY OF GO WORY 2022 48

Schedule A Vacation, Holiday, and Shift Adjustment Leave Selection

Calculations

- 1. For the purpose of this Schedule, any calculation which does not result in a whole number will be rounded according to the following rules:
 - a. Any number less than .50 will be rounded down.
 - b. Any number greater or equal to .50 will be rounded up.
 - c. A number between 1.1 and 1.4 will be rounded up to 2
- 2. In no case will the number of employees allowed off on leave be less than 1.
- For the purpose of this Schedule, all calculations will be based on anticipated staffing levels for the following calendar year as reflected in the staff lists distributed by the Employer on December 1st.

Seconded Employees

- 1. All seconded employees shall take their vacation within the calendar year.
- 2. Seconded employees shall not be included in any calculation required under this Schedule.

Patrol Division- Watches:

In order to meet operational needs, the Employer will rebalance the watches prior to January 1, 2018 to equitably distribute seniority, gender and operational skill sets.

After the initial rebalancing for January 1, 2018, the employer will rebalance on the following schedule:

NCOs	Every 2 years beginning in 2020
Constables	Every 4 years beginning in 2022

Notwithstanding the above, rebalancing outside of these timelines can be done with the agreement of both parties.

By December 1st of each calendar year, Human Resources will forward staff lists to the watches. During that month of December the Sgts and Csts on the watches shall pick their Divisional work assignments for the following year. Once work assignment is picked, the leave picking shall start in order of Seniority following the limitations set out in the tables below. All Leave for the following year must be picked and submitted to the Employer by December 31st.

Watch/Section/Unit	Number of Employees Allowed on Leave
S/Sgts on a Watch	 S/Sgt's on a watch shall pick separately
Sgts on squad- West Division	- A maximum of 1 off on any type of leave
Sgts on squad-Central Division	- A maximum of 1 off on any type of leave
Sgts on squad-East Division	- A maximum of 1 off on any type of leave
West Division Csts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave per watch
Central Division Csts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave per watch
East Division Csts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave per watch

Patrol Division:

The rest of the Patrol Division shall pick the vacation in seniority within the units below They shall start picking their leave in December of each year. All Leave for the following year must be picked and submitted to the employer by December 31st.

Watch/Section/Unit	Number of Employees Allowed on Leave
CROs West Division	A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
CROs Central Division	A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
CROs East Division	A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Quick Response Unit NCOs	NCOs pick together. A maximum of 20% off on any type of
	leave
Central Quick Response Unit	A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Csts	A maximum of 20% on on any type of leave
West Quick Response Unit Csts	A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
East Quick Response Unit Csts	A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave

The rest of the Police Service shall pick the vacation in seniority within the units below. They shall start picking their leave in December of each year. All Leave for the following year must be picked and submitted to the employer by December 31st.

Support:

Watch/Section/Unit	Number of Employees Allowed on Leave
ММНСТ	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
LEU	- Pick together; A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Ports Sgt and Csts	- Pick together; A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Court Liaison Officers	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Youth Court Officers	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
	- NCO picks separate. A maximum of 20% off on any type of
Traffic	leave
	- Cst – A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Accident Investigation	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
	- NCO picks separate. A maximum of 20% off on any type
CRCP	of leave
	- Cst – A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Booking Officers	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave per watch
К-9	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave per watch

Office of the Chief of Police:

Watch/Section/Unit	Number of Employees Allowed on Leave
Audit and Oversight	- All NCOs pick together. A maximum of 20% off on any
	type of leave
Professional Standards	- All NCOs pick together. A maximum of 20% off on any
Investigative Unit	type of leave
Diversity & Inclusion	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Corporate Communications and	 A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Media Relations	

Administration:

Watch/Section/Unit	Number of Employees Allowed on Leave
S/Sgts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Sgts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Functional Analyst	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Training Curriculum Coordinator	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Csts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave

Criminal Investigation Division:

Watch/Section/Unit	Number of Employees Allowed on Leave
S/Sgts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
FIS Sgts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
TSU & CIU Sgts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
HSU Sgts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Homicide Sgts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
SAIT and Human Trafficking Sgts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
GIS Sgts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Fraud Sgt	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Drugs and Guns & Gangs Sgts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
FIS Csts and S/Csts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
FIS Lab Technicians	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
TSU Csts and S/Cst	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
TSU Civilians	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
CIU - Csts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Cyber Operations Csts and S/Csts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave

Digital Forensics – S/Csts and Civilians	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Polygraph - Csts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
LAST - Csts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Crime Analysts - Civilians	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Homicide – Csts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Cold Case - Csts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
SAIT - Csts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Human Trafficking - Csts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
ICE - Csts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
GIS - Csts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Fraud - Csts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Drugs - Csts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
Guns & Gangs - Csts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave
HEAT - Csts	- A maximum of 20% off on any type of leave

Integrated Emergency Service

In December of each year the Supervisors, and Emergency Response Communicators in the IES working the 12 hour shift rotation shall pick their Leave for the following year in order of Seniority on each watch described below. This pick process shall be completed and submitted to the employer by December 31st.

Watch/Section/Unit	Number of Employees Allowed on Leave
	- Supervisors pick separate from Emergency Response
Supervisors	Communicators A maximum of 20% off on any type of
	leave.
	- For the purposes of ensuring all full-time Emergency
	Response Communicators in IES are able to take their
Emergency Response	entire vacation entitlement in a given year, a maximum
Communicators	of 4, or 20% of full-time Emergency Response
	Communicators, whichever is greater, off on any type of
	leave.

Note: There shall be no more than 20 part-time Emergency Response Communicators in Integrated Emergency Services. The region shall not revisit this number again during the duration of the collective agreement. [2020]

Schedule B Seniority List

Schedule B will be kept as a separate attachment to this Collective Agreement. The employer will maintain the seniority list during the life of the collective agreement. The parties will sign off on the seniority list at the conclusion of each round of collective bargaining.

HRPA Salary April 1, 2020 1.25% **BiWeekly** Rank Steps Salary Hourly 1 Plus Year \$62.39 \$130,264.20 \$4,990.97 Staff Sgt 0-1 Year \$125,135.69 \$59.93 \$4,794.47 **3 Plus Years** \$4,676.57 \$122,058.58 \$58.46 2-3 Years \$114,878.67 \$55.02 \$4,401.48 Sgt 1-2 Years \$110,775.86 \$53.05 \$4.244.29 0-1 Year \$106,673.05 \$51.09 \$4,087.09 **4 Plus Years** Cst \$102,570.24 \$49.12 \$3,929.89 \$3,340.41 3-4 Years \$87,184.70 \$41.76 2-3 Years \$75,901.98 \$36.35 \$2,908.12 Cst 1-2 Years \$2,554.43 \$66,670.66 \$31.93 0-1 Year \$61,542.14 \$29.47 \$2,357.94 **Reserve Police** \$26.40 Officer 4 Plus Years \$78,979.08 \$37.83 \$3,026.02 3-4 Years \$71,799.17 \$2,750.93 \$34.39 **Booking Technician** 2-3 Years \$66,670.66 \$31.93 \$2,554.43 1-2 Years \$62,567.85 \$29.97 \$2,397.24 0-1 Year \$57,439.33 \$27.51 \$2,200.74 2 Plus Years \$71,799.17 \$34.39 \$2,750.93 1-2 Years \$59,490.74 \$28.49 \$2,279.34 Lab Technician 0-1 Years \$55,387.93 \$2,122.14 \$26.53 1 Plus Year Communications \$93,338.92 \$44.70 \$3,576.20 Advisor 0-1 Year \$88,210.41 \$42.25 \$3,379.71 1 Plus Year \$76,927.68 \$36.84 \$2,947.42 Court Liaison Officer 0-1 Year \$71,799.17 \$34.39 \$2,750.93 3+ Years \$82,056.19 \$39.30 \$3,143.92 2-3 Years \$71,799.17 \$2,750.93 \$34.39 Crime Analyst 1-2 Years \$61,542.14 \$29.47 \$2,357.94 0-1 Years \$51,285.12 \$24.56 \$1,964.95

Schedule C Wages

HRPA Salary		Apri	I 1, 2020 1.25	%
Rank	Steps	Salary	Hourly	BiWeekly
Emergency Response	1 Plus Year	\$89,236.11	\$42.74	\$3,419.01
Communicator Supervisor	0-1 Year	\$85,133.30	\$40.77	\$3,261.81
	4 Plus Years	\$82,056.19	\$39.30	\$3,143.92
Emergency Response	3-4 Years	\$75,901.98	\$36.35	\$2,908.12
Communicator	2-3 Years	\$73,850.57	\$35.37	\$2,829.52
	1-2 Years	\$67,696.36	\$32.42	\$2,593.73
	0-1 Year	\$64,619.25	\$30.95	\$2,475.83
Digital Forensic	2 Plus Years	\$97,441.73	\$46.67	\$3,733.40
Examiner	1-2 Years	\$92,313.22	\$44.21	\$3,536.90
	0-1 Year	\$87,184.70	\$41.76	\$3,340.41
	2 Plus Years	\$97,441.73	\$46.67	\$3,733.40
Civilian Forensic Technician	1-2 Years	\$92,313.22	\$44.21	\$3,536.90
rechnician	0-1 Year	\$87,184.70	\$41.76	\$3,340.41
Our a literate	2 Plus Years	\$97,441.73	\$46.67	\$3,733.40
Surveillance Technician	1-2 Years	\$92,313.22	\$44.21	\$3,536.90
	0-1 Year	\$87,184.70	\$41.76	\$3,340.41
	2 Plus Years	\$97,441.73	\$46.67	\$3,733.40
Cybercrime Specialist	1-2 Years	\$92,313.22	\$44.21	\$3,536.90
	0-1 Year	\$87,184.70	\$41.76	\$3,340.41
		<i>+,</i>	••••••	<i>,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,</i>
	3 Plus	\$82,056.19	\$39.30	\$3,143.92
	2-3 Years	\$76,927.68	\$36.84	\$2,947.42
Functional Analyst	1-2 Years	\$71,799.17	\$34.39	\$2,750.93
	0-1 Year	\$66,670.66	\$31.93	\$2,554.43
Training and	0.4.1/	\$ 04.050.00	0 40 5 4	1 00000
Training and Curriculum	0-1 Year	\$84,650.02	\$40.54	\$3,243.30
Consultant	1+ Years	\$88,882.52	\$42.57	\$3,405.46
	2+ Years	\$66,670.66	\$31.93	\$2,554.43
Intercept Monitor	1-2 Years	\$56,413.63	\$27.02	\$2,161.44
	0-1 Year	\$51,285.12	\$24.56	\$1,964.95
		ψ01,200.12	ψ2 τ.00	ψ1,007.00
Part Time ERC			\$26.23	
Part Time Booking			\$26.23	

HRPA Salary		Octob	er 1, 2020 1.2	25%
Rank	Steps	Salary	Hourly	BiWeekly
Chaff Cat	1 Plus Year	\$131,892.51	\$63.17	\$5,053.35
Staff Sgt	0-1 Year	\$126,699.89	\$60.68	\$4,854.40
	3 Plus Years	\$123,584.32	\$59.19	\$4,735.03
Cart	2-3 Years	\$116,314.65	\$55.71	\$4,456.50
Sgt	1-2 Years	\$112,160.56	\$53.72	\$4,297.34
	0-1 Year	\$108,006.46	\$51.73	\$4,138.18
Cst	4 Plus Years	\$103,852.37	\$49.74	\$3,979.02
	3-4 Years	\$88,274.51	\$42.28	\$3,382.17
Cat	2-3 Years	\$76,850.75	\$36.81	\$2,944.47
Cst	1-2 Years	\$67,504.04	\$32.33	\$2,586.36
	0-1 Year	\$62,311.42	\$29.84	\$2,387.41
Reserve Police Officer			\$26.73	
	4 Plus Years	\$79,966.32	\$38.30	\$3,063.84
Booking	3-4 Years	\$72,696.66	\$34.82	\$2,785.31
Technician	2-3 Years	\$67,504.04	\$32.33	\$2,586.36
	1-2 Years	\$63,349.94	\$30.34	\$2,427.20
	0-1 Year	\$58,157.33	\$27.85	\$2,228.25
	2 Plus Years	\$72,696.66	\$34.82	\$2,785.31
Lab Technician	1-2 Years	\$60,234.37	\$28.85	\$2,307.83
	0-1 Years	\$56,080.28	\$26.86	\$2,148.67
Communications	1 Plus Year	\$94,505.65	\$45.26	\$3,620.91
Advisor	0-1 Year	\$89,313.04	\$42.77	\$3,421.96
Court Liaison	1 Plus Year	\$77,889.28	\$37.30	\$2,984.26
Officer	0-1 Year	\$72,696.66	\$34.82	\$2,785.31
	3+ Years	\$83,081.89	\$39.79	\$3,183.21
Crime Analyst	2-3 Years	\$72,696.66	\$34.82	\$2,785.31
Sinne Analyst	1-2 Years	\$62,311.42	\$29.84	\$2,387.41
	0-1 Years	\$51,926.18	\$24.87	\$1,989.51

HRPA Salary		Octob	October 1, 2020 1.25%		
Rank	Steps	Salary	Salary	Salary	
Emergency Response	1 Plus Year	\$90,351.56	\$43.27	\$3,461.75	
Communicator Supervisor	0-1 Year	\$86,197.46	\$41.28	\$3,302.58	
	4 Plus Years	\$83,081.89	\$39.79	\$3,183.21	
Emergency Response	3-4 Years	\$76,850.75	\$36.81	\$2,944.47	
Communicator	2-3 Years	\$74,773.70	\$35.81	\$2,864.89	
	1-2 Years	\$68,542.56	\$32.83	\$2,626.15	
_	0-1 Year	\$65,426.99	\$31.33	\$2,506.78	
	2 Plus Years	\$98,659.75	\$47.25	\$3,780.07	
Digital Forensic	1-2 Years	\$93,467.13	\$44.76	\$3,581.12	
Examiner	0-1 Year	\$88,274.51	\$42.28	\$3,382.17	
	2 Plus Years	\$98,659.75	\$47.25	\$3,780.07	
Civilian Forensic	1-2 Years	\$93,467.13	\$44.76	\$3,581.12	
Technician	0-1 Year	\$88,274.51	\$42.28	\$3,382.17	
o iii	2 Plus Years	\$98,659.75	\$47.25	\$3,780.07	
Surveillance Technician	1-2 Years	\$93,467.13	\$44.76	\$3,581.12	
	0-1 Year	\$88,274.51	\$42.28	\$3,382.17	
	2 Plus Years	\$98,659.75	\$47.25	\$3,780.07	
Cybercrime Specialist	1-2 Years	\$93,467.13	\$44.76	\$3,581.12	
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	0-1 Year	\$88,274.51	\$42.28	\$3,382.17	
	3 Plus	\$83,081.89	\$39.79	\$3,183.21	
Functional Analyst	2-3 Years	\$77,889.28	\$37.30	\$2,984.26	
	1-2 Years	\$72,696.66	\$34.82	\$2,785.31	
	0-1 Year	\$67,504.04	\$32.33	\$2,586.36	
Training and	0-1 Year	\$85,708.14	\$41.05	\$3,283.84	
Curriculum Consultant	1+ Years	\$89,993.55	\$43.10	\$3,448.03	
		¢67 504 04	¢22.22	¢0.596.06	
Intercent Manitor	2+ Years 1-2 Years	\$67,504.04 \$57,118,80	\$32.33 \$27.36	\$2,586.36 \$2,188.46	
Intercept Monitor	0-1 Year	\$57,118.80 \$51,926.18	\$27.36	\$2,188.46 \$1,989.51	
		ψυ1,920.10	ψ24.07	ψ1,909.01	
Part Time ERC			\$26.56		
Part Time Booking			\$26.56		

HRPA Salary		Ар	oril 1, 2021 1.2	5%
Rank	Steps	Salary	Hourly	BiWeekly
Choff Cat	1 Plus Year	\$133,541.16	\$63.96	\$5,116.52
Staff Sgt	0-1 Year	\$128,283.64	\$61.44	\$4,915.08
	3 Plus Years	\$125,129.12	\$59.93	\$4,794.22
Sat	2-3 Years	\$117,768.58	\$56.40	\$4,512.21
Sgt	1-2 Years	\$113,562.56	\$54.39	\$4,351.06
	0-1 Year	\$109,356.54	\$52.37	\$4,189.91
Cst	4 Plus Years	\$105,150.52	\$50.36	\$4,028.76
	3-4 Years	\$89,377.94	\$42.81	\$3,424.44
Cst	2-3 Years	\$77,811.39	\$37.27	\$2,981.28
031	1-2 Years	\$68,347.84	\$32.73	\$2,618.69
	0-1 Year	\$63,090.31	\$30.22	\$2,417.25
Reserve Police			\$27.07	
Officer			•	
	4 Plus Years	\$82,017.41	\$39.28	\$3,142.43
	3-4 Years	\$73,605.37	\$35.25	\$2,820.13
Booking Technician	2-3 Years	\$68,347.84	\$32.73	\$2,618.69
DUDKING TECHNICIAN	1-2 Years	\$64,141.82	\$30.72	\$2,457.54
	0-1 Year	\$58,884.29	\$28.20	\$2,256.10
	0-1 1 641	ψ30,004.23	ψ20.20	ψ2,230.10
	2 Plus Years	\$74,656.87	\$35.76	\$2,860.42
Lab Technician	1-2 Years	\$60,987.30	\$29.21	\$2,336.68
	0-1 Years	\$56,781.28	\$27.19	\$2,175.53
	0-1 16413	ψ30,701.20	ψ27.13	ψ2,170.00
			•	
Communications	1 Plus Year	\$95,686.97	\$45.83	\$3,666.17
Advisor	0-1 Year	\$90,429.45	\$43.31	\$3,464.73
Count Lioison Officer	1 Plus Year	\$78,862.89	\$37.77	\$3,021.57
Court Liaison Officer	0-1 Year	\$73,605.37	\$35.25	\$2,820.13
	3+ Years	\$84,120.42	\$40.29	\$3,223.00
Crime Analyst	2-3 Years	\$73,605.37	\$35.25	\$2,820.13
Chine Analyst	1-2 Years	\$63,090.31	\$30.22	\$2,417.25
	0-1 Years	\$52,575.26	\$25.18	\$2,014.38

HRPA Salary		Ар	ril 1, 2021 1.2	25%
Rank	Steps	Salary	Hourly	BiWeekly
Emergency Response	1 Plus Year	\$91,480.95	\$43.81	\$3,505.02
Communicator Supervisor	0-1 Year	\$87,274.93	\$41.80	\$3,343.87
	4 Plus Years	\$84,120.42	\$40.29	\$3,223.00
	3-4 Years	\$77,811.39	\$37.27	\$2,981.28
Emergency Response Communicator	2-3 Years	\$75,708.38	\$36.26	\$2,900.70
Communicator	1-2 Years	\$69,399.34	\$33.24	\$2,658.98
	0-1 Year	\$66,244.83	\$31.73	\$2,538.12
	2 Plus Years	\$99,893.00	\$47.84	\$3,827.32
Digital Forensic Examiner	1-2 Years	\$94,635.47	\$45.32	\$3,625.88
	0-1 Year	\$89,377.94	\$42.81	\$3,424.44
	2 Plus Years	\$99,893.00	\$47.84	\$3,827.32
Civilian Forensic	1-2 Years	\$94,635.47	\$45.32	\$3,625.88
Technician	0-1 Year	\$89,377.94	\$42.81	\$3,424.44
	2 Plus Years	\$99,893.00	\$47.84	¢2 927 22
Surveillance	1-2 Years	\$99,893.00	\$47.84 \$45.32	\$3,827.32
Technician	0-1 Year	\$89,377.94	\$45.32 \$42.81	\$3,625.88 \$3,424.44
		+ ,	• -	÷ -)
	2 Plus Years	\$99,893.00	\$47.84	\$3,827.32
Cybercrime Specialist	1-2 Years	\$94,635.47	\$45.32	\$3,625.88
	0-1 Year	\$89,377.94	\$42.81	\$3,424.44
			* (0 0 0	<u> </u>
	3 Plus	\$84,120.42	\$40.29	\$3,223.00
Functional Analyst	2-3 Years	\$78,862.89	\$37.77	\$3,021.57
	1-2 Years	\$73,605.37	\$35.25	\$2,820.13
	0-1 Year	\$68,347.84	\$32.73	\$2,618.69
Training and	0-1 Year	\$86,779.49	\$41.56	\$3,324.88
Curriculum Consultant	1+ Years	\$91,118.47	\$43.64	\$3,491.13
	2+ Years	\$68,347.84	\$32.73	\$2,618.69
Intercept Monitor	1-2 Years	\$57,832.79	\$27.70	\$2,215.82
	0-1 Year	\$52,575.26	\$25.18	\$2,014.38
			#00.00	
Part Time ERC			\$26.89	
Part Time Booking			\$26.89	

HRPA Salary		October 1, 2021 1.25%		
Rank	Steps	Salary	Hourly	BiWeekly
Chaff Cat	1 Plus Year	\$135,210.43	\$64.76	\$5,180.48
Staff Sgt	0-1 Year	\$129,887.18	\$62.21	\$4,976.52
	3 Plus Years	\$126,693.23	\$60.68	\$4,854.15
Cat	2-3 Years	\$119,240.69	\$57.11	\$4,568.61
Sgt	1-2 Years	\$114,982.10	\$55.07	\$4,405.44
	0-1 Year	\$110,723.50	\$53.03	\$4,242.28
Cst	4 Plus Years	\$106,464.90	\$50.99	\$4,079.12
	3-4 Years	\$90,495.17	\$43.34	\$3,467.25
Cst	2-3 Years	\$78,784.03	\$37.73	\$3,018.55
031	1-2 Years	\$69,202.19	\$33.14	\$2,651.42
	0-1 Year	\$63,878.94	\$30.59	\$2,447.47
Reserve Police Officer			\$27.41	
Booking Technician	4 Plus Years	\$83,042.62	\$39.77	\$3,181.71
	3-4 Years	\$74,525.43	\$35.69	\$2,855.38
	2-3 Years	\$69,202.19	\$33.14	\$2,651.42
	1-2 Years	\$64,943.59	\$31.10	\$2,488.26
	0-1 Year	\$59,620.35	\$28.55	\$2,284.30
	2 Plus Years	\$75,590.08	\$36.20	\$2,896.17
Lab Technician	1-2 Years	\$61,749.64	\$29.57	\$2,365.89
	0-1 Years	\$57,491.05	\$27.53	\$2,202.72
Communications	1 Plus Year	\$96,883.06	\$46.40	\$3,711.99
Advisor	0-1 Year	\$91,559.82	\$43.85	\$3,508.04
Court Liaison	1 Plus Year	\$79,848.68	\$38.24	\$3,059.34
Officer	0-1 Year	\$74,525.43	\$35.69	\$2,855.38
	3+ Years	\$85,171.92	\$40.79	\$3,263.29
Crime Analyst	2-3 Years	\$74,525.43	\$35.69	\$2,855.38
Chille Analyst	1-2 Years	\$63,878.94	\$30.59	\$2,447.47
	0-1 Years	\$53,232.45	\$25.49	\$2,039.56

HRPA Salary		Octob	er 1, 2021 1.2	25%
Rank	Steps	Salary	Hourly	BiWeekly
Emergency Response	1 Plus Year	\$92,624.47	\$44.36	\$3,548.83
Communicator Supervisor	0-1 Year	\$88,365.87	\$42.32	\$3,385.67
	4 Plus Years	\$85,171.92	\$40.79	\$3,263.29
Emorgonov Doononoo	3-4 Years	\$78,784.03	\$37.73	\$3,018.55
Emergency Response Communicator	2-3 Years	\$76,654.73	\$36.71	\$2,936.96
Communication	1-2 Years	\$70,266.84	\$33.65	\$2,692.22
	0-1 Year	\$67,072.89	\$32.12	\$2,569.84
	2 Plus Years	\$101,141.66	\$48.44	\$3,875.16
Digital Forensic Examiner	1-2 Years	\$95,818.41	\$45.89	\$3,671.20
	0-1 Year	\$90,495.17	\$43.34	\$3,467.25
Civilian Forensic	2 Plus Years 1-2 Years	\$101,141.66 \$95,818.41	\$48.44 \$45.89	\$3,875.16 \$3,671.20
Technician	0-1 Year	\$90,495.17	\$43.34	\$3,467.25
Surveillance Technician	2 Plus Years 1-2 Years	\$101,141.66 \$95,818.41	\$48.44 \$45.89	\$3,875.16 \$3,671.20
	0-1 Year	\$90,495.17	\$43.34	\$3,467.25
	2 Plus Years	\$101,141.66	\$48.44	\$3,875.16
Cybercrime Specialist	1-2 Years 0-1 Year	\$95,818.41 \$90,495.17	\$45.89 \$43.34	\$3,671.20 \$3,467.25
	3 Plus 2-3 Years	\$85,171.92 \$79,848.68	\$40.79 \$38.24	\$3,263.29 \$3,059.34
Functional Analyst	1-2 Years		\$35.69	\$2,855.38
	0-1 Year	\$74,525.43 \$69,202.19	\$33.14	\$2,651.42
Training and	0-1 Year	\$87,864.24	\$42.08	\$3,366.45
Curriculum Consultant	1+ Years	\$92,257.45	\$44.18	\$3,534.77
	2+ Years	\$69,202.19	\$33.14	\$2,651.42
Intercept Monitor	1-2 Years	\$58,555.70	\$28.04	\$2,243.51
	0-1 Year	\$53,232.45	\$25.49	\$2,039.56
Part Time ERC			\$27.23	
Part Time Booking			\$27.23	
Fait Time DUUKINg			φ21.23	

HRPA Salary		April	1, 2022 1.25	5%
Rank	Steps	Salary	Hourly	BiWeekly
Chaff Cart	1 Plus Year	\$136,900.56	\$65.57	\$5,245.23
Staff Sgt	0-1 Year	\$131,510.77	\$62.98	\$5,038.73
	3 Plus Years	\$128,276.90	\$61.44	\$4,914.82
Cat	2-3 Years	\$120,731.20	\$57.82	\$4,625.72
Sgt	1-2 Years	\$116,419.37	\$55.76	\$4,460.51
	0-1 Year	\$112,107.54	\$53.69	\$4,295.31
Cst	4 Plus Years	\$107,795.71	\$51.63	\$4,130.10
	3-4 Years	\$91,626.36	\$43.88	\$3,510.59
Cst	2-3 Years	\$79,768.83	\$38.20	\$3,056.28
001	1-2 Years	\$70,067.21	\$33.56	\$2,684.57
	0-1 Year	\$64,677.43	\$30.98	\$2,478.06
Reserve Police Officer			\$27.75	-
Oncer				
	4 Plus Years	\$85,158.61	\$40.78	\$3,262.78
	3-4 Years	\$75,457.00	\$36.14	\$2,891.07
Booking Technician	2-3 Years	\$70,067.21	\$33.56	\$2,684.57
	1-2 Years	\$65,755.39	\$31.49	\$2,519.36
	0-1 Year	\$60,365.60	\$28.91	\$2,312.86
	2 Plus Years	\$77,612.91	\$37.17	\$2,973.67
Lab Technician	1-2 Years	\$62,521.51	\$29.94	\$2,395.46
	0-1 Years	\$58,209.69	\$27.88	\$2,230.26
Communications	1 Plus Year	\$98,094.10	\$46.98	\$3,758.39
Advisor	0-1 Year	\$92,704.31	\$44.40	\$3,551.89
	1 Plus Year	\$80,846.79	\$38.72	\$3,097.58
Court Liaison Officer	0-1 Year	\$75,457.00	\$36.14	\$2,891.07
	3+ Years	\$86,236.57	\$41.30	\$3,304.08
	2-3 Years	\$75,457.00	\$36.14	\$2,891.07
Crime Analyst	1-2 Years	\$64,677.43	\$30.98	\$2,478.06
	0-1 Years	\$53,897.86	\$25.81	\$2,065.05

HRPA Salary		April 1, 2022 1.25%		
Rank	Steps	Salary	Hourly	BiWeekly
Emergency Response	1 Plus Year	\$93,782.27	\$44.91	\$3,593.19
Communicator Supervisor	0-1 Year	\$89,470.44	\$42.85	\$3,427.99
	4 Plus Years	\$86,236.57	\$41.30	\$3,304.08
Emorgonov Boononco	3-4 Years	\$79,768.83	\$38.20	\$3,056.28
Emergency Response Communicator	2-3 Years	\$77,612.91	\$37.17	\$2,973.67
Communication	1-2 Years	\$71,145.17	\$34.07	\$2,725.87
	0-1 Year	\$67,911.30	\$32.52	\$2,601.97
	2 Plus Years	\$102,405.93	\$49.04	\$3,923.60
Digital Forensic Examiner	1-2 Years	\$97,016.14	\$46.46	\$3,717.09
	0-1 Year	\$91,626.36	\$43.88	\$3,510.59
	2 Plus Years	\$102,405.93	\$49.04	\$3,923.60
Civilian Forensic Technician	1-2 Years	\$97,016.14	\$46.46	\$3,717.09
Technician	0-1 Year	\$91,626.36	\$43.88	\$3,510.59
Surveillance	2 Plus Years	\$102,405.93	\$49.04	\$3,923.60
Technician	1-2 Years	\$97,016.14	\$46.46	\$3,717.09
	0-1 Year	\$91,626.36	\$43.88	\$3,510.59
	2 Plus Years	\$102,405.93	\$49.04	\$3,923.60
Cybercrime Specialist	1-2 Years	\$97,016.14	\$46.46	\$3,717.09
	0-1 Year	\$91,626.36	\$43.88	\$3,510.59
	3 Plus	\$86,236.57	\$41.30	\$3,304.08
Functional Analyst	2-3 Years	\$80,846.79	\$38.72	\$3,097.58
	1-2 Years	\$75,457.00	\$36.14	\$2,891.07
	0-1 Year	\$70,067.21	\$33.56	\$2,684.57
Training and	0-1 Year	\$88,962.54	\$42.61	\$3,408.53
Curriculum Consultant	1+ Years	\$93,410.67	\$44.74	\$3,578.95
				A O 004 --
Internet March	2+ Years	\$70,067.21	\$33.56	\$2,684.57
Intercept Monitor	1-2 Years	\$59,287.64	\$28.39	\$2,271.56
	0-1 Year	\$53,897.86	\$25.81	\$2,065.05
Part Time ERC			\$27.57	
Part Time Booking			\$27.57	

HRPA Salary		Octob	er 1, 2022 1.2	25%
Rank	Steps	Salary	Hourly	BiWeekly
Chaff Cash	1 Plus Year	\$138,611.81	\$66.38	\$5,310.80
Staff Sgt	0-1 Year	\$133,154.66	\$63.77	\$5,101.71
	3 Plus Years	\$129,880.36	\$62.20	\$4,976.26
Cart	2-3 Years	\$122,240.34	\$58.54	\$4,683.54
Sgt	1-2 Years	\$117,874.61	\$56.45	\$4,516.27
	0-1 Year	\$113,508.89	\$54.36	\$4,349.00
Cst	4 Plus Years	\$109,143.16	\$52.27	\$4,181.73
	3-4 Years	\$92,771.69	\$44.43	\$3,554.47
Cst	2-3 Years	\$80,765.94	\$38.68	\$3,094.48
031	1-2 Years	\$70,943.05	\$33.98	\$2,718.12
	0-1 Year	\$65,485.90	\$31.36	\$2,509.04
Reserve Police			\$28.10	
Officer				
	4 Plus Years	\$86,223.10	\$41.29	\$3,303.57
	3-4 Years	\$76,400.21	\$36.59	\$2,927.21
Booking Technician	2-3 Years	\$70,943.05	\$33.98	\$2,718.12
Dooking recimician	1-2 Years	\$66,577.33	\$31.89	\$2,550.86
	0-1 Year	\$61,120.17	\$29.27	\$2,341.77
	011001	φ01,120.11	Ψ20.21	Ψ2,011.11
	2 Plus Years	\$78,583.08	\$37.64	\$3,010.85
Lab Technician	1-2 Years	\$63,303.03	\$30.32	\$2,425.40
	0-1 Years	\$58,937.31	\$28.23	\$2,258.13
Communications	1 Plus Year	\$99,320.28	\$47.57	\$3,805.37
Advisor	0-1 Year	\$93,863.12	\$44.95	\$3,596.29
Court Liaison	1 Plus Year	\$81,857.37	\$39.20	\$3,136.30
Officer	0-1 Year	\$76,400.21	\$36.59	\$2,927.21
	3+ Years	\$87,314.53	\$41.82	\$3,345.38
Crimo Analyst	2-3 Years	\$76,400.21	\$36.59	\$2,927.21
Crime Analyst	1-2 Years	\$65,485.90	\$31.36	\$2,509.04
	0-1 Years	\$54,571.58	\$26.14	\$2,090.87

HRPA Salary		Octob	er 1, 2022 1.2	25%
Rank	Steps	Salary	Hourly	BiWeekly
Emergency Response	1 Plus Year	\$94,954.55	\$45.48	\$3,638.11
Communicator Supervisor	0-1 Year	\$90,588.82	\$43.39	\$3,470.84
	4 Plus Years	\$87,314.53	\$41.82	\$3,345.38
	3-4 Years	\$80,765.94	\$38.68	\$3,094.48
Emergency Response Communicator	2-3 Years	\$78,583.08	\$37.64	\$3,010.85
Communicator	1-2 Years	\$72,034.49	\$34.50	\$2,759.94
	0-1 Year	\$68,760.19	\$32.93	\$2,634.49
	2 Plus Years	\$103,686.00	\$49.66	\$3,972.64
Digital Forensic	1-2 Years	\$98,228.84	\$47.04	\$3,763.56
Examiner	0-1 Year	\$92,771.69	\$44.43	\$3,554.47
	2 Plus Years	\$103,686.00	\$49.66	\$3,972.64
Civilian Forensic	1-2 Years	\$98,228.84	\$47.04	\$3,763.56
Technician	0-1 Year	\$92,771.69	\$44.43	\$3,554.47
Surveillance	2 Plus Years	\$103,686.00	\$49.66	\$3,972.64
Technician	1-2 Years	\$98,228.84	\$47.04	\$3,763.56
	0-1 Year	\$92,771.69	\$44.43	\$3,554.47
	2 Plus Years	\$103,686.00	\$49.66	\$3,972.64
Cybercrime Specialist	1-2 Years	\$98,228.84	\$47.04	\$3,763.56
	0-1 Year	\$92,771.69	\$44.43	\$3,554.47
		* 07.044.50	¢ 11.00	* 0.045.00
	3 Plus	\$87,314.53	\$41.82	\$3,345.38
Functional Analyst	2-3 Years 1-2 Years	\$81,857.37 \$76,400.21	\$39.20 \$36.59	\$3,136.30 \$2,027,21
	0-1 Year	\$70,943.05	\$33.98	\$2,927.21 \$2,718.12
	0-1 Teal	\$70,943.05	<i>ф</i> 33.90	φΖ,7 ΙΟ.ΙΖ
Training and	0-1 Year	\$90,074.57	\$43.14	\$3,451.13
Curriculum Consultant	1+ Years	\$94,578.30	\$45.30	\$3,623.69
	2+ Years	\$70,943.05	\$33.98	\$2,718.12
Intercept Monitor	1-2 Years	\$60,028.74	\$28.75	\$2,299.95
	0-1 Year	\$54,571.58	\$26.14	\$2,090.87
Part Time ERC			\$27.91	
Part Time Booking			\$27.91	

HRPA Salary		Apri	l 1, 2023 1.25	5%
Rank	Steps	Salary	Hourly	BiWeekly
Otaff Ort	1 Plus Year	\$140,344.46	\$67.21	\$5,377.18
Staff Sgt	0-1 Year	\$134,819.09	\$64.57	\$5,165.48
	3 Plus Years	\$131,503.87	\$62.98	\$5,038.46
Ort	2-3 Years	\$123,768.34	\$59.28	\$4,742.08
Sgt	1-2 Years	\$119,348.05	\$57.16	\$4,572.72
	0-1 Year	\$114,927.75	\$55.04	\$4,403.36
Cst	4 Plus Years	\$110,507.45	\$52.93	\$4,234.00
	3-4 Years	\$93,931.33	\$44.99	\$3,598.90
Cst	2-3 Years	\$81,775.51	\$39.16	\$3,133.16
031	1-2 Years	\$71,829.84	\$34.40	\$2,752.10
	0-1 Year	\$66,304.47	\$31.76	\$2,540.40
Reserve Police			\$28.45	
Officer				
	4 Plus Years	\$88,405.96	\$42.34	\$3,387.20
	3-4 Years	\$77,355.22	\$42.34	\$2,963.80
Booking Technician	2-3 Years	\$71,829.84	\$34.40	\$2,903.00
BOOKING TECHNICIAN	1-2 Years	\$67,409.54	\$34.40	\$2,732.10
	0-1 Year	\$61,884.17	\$29.64	
	0-1 fear	Φ 01,004.17	φ29.04	\$2,371.04
	2 Plus Years	\$80,670.44	\$38.64	\$3,090.82
Lab Technician	1-2 Years	\$64,094.32	\$30.70	\$2,455.72
	0-1 Years	\$59,674.02	\$28.58	\$2,286.36
	0-1 16413	ψ00,07 1 .02	φ20.00	ψ2,200.00
Communications	1 Plus Year	\$100,561.78	\$48.16	\$3,852.94
Advisor	0-1 Year	\$95,036.41	\$45.52	\$3,641.24
Court Liaison	1 Plus Year	\$82,880.59	\$39.69	\$3,175.50
Officer	0-1 Year	\$77,355.22	\$37.05	\$2,963.80
		***	A 45 5 1	
	3+ Years	\$88,405.96	\$42.34	\$3,387.20
Crime Analyst	2-3 Years	\$77,355.22	\$37.05	\$2,963.80
	1-2 Years	\$66,304.47	\$31.76	\$2,540.40
	0-1 Years	\$55,253.73	\$26.46	\$2,117.00

HRPA Salary		April	1, 2023 1.25	5%
Rank	Steps	Salary	Hourly	BiWeekly
Emergency Response	1 Plus Year	\$96,141.48	\$46.04	\$3,683.58
Communicator Supervisor	0-1 Year	\$91,721.18	\$43.93	\$3,514.22
	4 Plus Years	\$88,405.96	\$42.34	\$3,387.20
Emorgonov Dooponoo	3-4 Years	\$81,775.51	\$39.16	\$3,133.16
Emergency Response Communicator	2-3 Years	\$79,565.36	\$38.11	\$3,048.48
Communication	1-2 Years	\$72,934.92	\$34.93	\$2,794.44
	0-1 Year	\$69,619.69	\$33.34	\$2,667.42
	2 Plus Years	\$104,982.08	\$50.28	\$4,022.30
Digital Forensic Examiner	1-2 Years	\$99,456.71	\$47.63	\$3,810.60
	0-1 Year	\$93,931.33	\$44.99	\$3,598.90
	2 Plus Years	\$104,982.08	\$50.28	\$4,022.30
Civilian Forensic Technician	1-2 Years	\$99,456.71	\$47.63	\$3,810.60
	0-1 Year	\$93,931.33	\$44.99	\$3,598.90
Surveillance	2 Plus Years	\$104,982.08	\$50.28	\$4,022.30
Technician	1-2 Years	\$99,456.71	\$47.63	\$3,810.60
	0-1 Year	\$93,931.33	\$44.99	\$3,598.90
	2 Plus Years	\$104,982.08	\$50.28	\$4,022.30
Cybercrime Specialist	1-2 Years	\$99,456.71	\$47.63	\$3,810.60
	0-1 Year	\$93,931.33	\$44.99	\$3,598.90
		* 00,405,00	# 40.04	\$ 0,007,00
	3 Plus	\$88,405.96	\$42.34	\$3,387.20
Functional Analyst	2-3 Years	\$82,880.59	\$39.69	\$3,175.50
	1-2 Years	\$77,355.22	\$37.05	\$2,963.80
	0-1 Year	\$71,829.84	\$34.40	\$2,752.10
Training and	0-1 Year	\$91,200.50	\$43.68	\$3,494.27
Curriculum Consultant	1+ Years	\$95,760.53	\$45.86	\$3,668.99
	2+ Years	\$71,829.84	\$34.40	\$2,752.10
Intercept Monitor	1-2 Years	\$60,779.10	\$29.11	\$2,328.70
	0-1 Year	\$55,253.73	\$26.46	\$2,117.00
Part Time ERC			\$28.26	
Part Time Booking			\$28.26	

HRPA Salary		October 1, 2023 1.25%			
Rank	Steps	Salary	Hourly	BiWeekly	
	1 Plus Year	\$142,098.77	\$68.05	\$5,444.40	
Staff Sgt	0-1 Year	\$136,504.33	\$65.38	\$5,230.05	
	3 Plus Years	\$133,147.66	\$63.77	\$5,101.44	
Cart	2-3 Years	\$125,315.45	\$60.02	\$4,801.36	
Sgt	1-2 Years	\$120,839.90	\$57.87	\$4,629.88	
	0-1 Year	\$116,364.35	\$55.73	\$4,458.40	
Cst	4 Plus Years	\$111,888.79	\$53.59	\$4,286.93	
	3-4 Years	\$95,105.47	\$45.55	\$3,643.89	
Cst	2-3 Years	\$82,797.71	\$39.65	\$3,172.33	
031	1-2 Years	\$72,727.72	\$34.83	\$2,786.50	
	0-1 Year	\$67,133.28	\$32.15	\$2,572.16	
Reserve Police			\$28.80		
Officer					
	4 Plus Years	\$89,511.03	\$42.87	\$3,429.54	
	3-4 Years	\$78,322.16	\$37.51	\$3,000.85	
Booking Technician	2-3 Years	\$72,727.72	\$34.83	\$2,786.50	
Deerang	1-2 Years	\$68,252.16	\$32.69	\$2,615.03	
	0-1 Year	\$62,657.72	\$30.01	\$2,400.68	
		. ,			
	2 Plus Years	\$81,678.82	\$39.12	\$3,129.46	
Lab Technician	1-2 Years	\$64,895.50	\$31.08	\$2,486.42	
	0-1 Years	\$60,419.95	\$28.94	\$2,314.94	
Communications	1 Plus Year	\$101,818.80	\$48.76	\$3,901.10	
Advisor	0-1 Year	\$96,224.36	\$46.08	\$3,686.76	
Court Liaison	1 Plus Year	\$83,916.60	\$40.19	\$3,215.20	
Officer	0-1 Year	\$78,322.16	\$37.51	\$3,000.85	
		000 511 00	
	3+ Years	\$89,511.03	\$42.87	\$3,429.54	
Crime Analyst	2-3 Years	\$78,322.16	\$37.51	\$3,000.85	
	1-2 Years	\$67,133.28	\$32.15	\$2,572.16	
	0-1 Years	\$55,944.40	\$26.79	\$2,143.46	

HRPA Salary		Octob	er 1, 2023 1.2	25%
Rank	Steps	Salary	Hourly	BiWeekly
Emergency Response	1 Plus Year	\$97,343.25	\$46.62	\$3,729.63
Communicator Supervisor	0-1 Year	\$92,867.70	\$44.48	\$3,558.15
	4 Plus Years	\$89,511.03	\$42.87	\$3,429.54
Emorgonov Dooponoo	3-4 Years	\$82,797.71	\$39.65	\$3,172.33
Emergency Response Communicator	2-3 Years	\$80,559.93	\$38.58	\$3,086.59
Communication	1-2 Years	\$73,846.60	\$35.37	\$2,829.37
	0-1 Year	\$70,489.94	\$33.76	\$2,700.76
	2 Plus Years	\$106,294.35	\$50.91	\$4,072.58
Digital Forensic Examiner	1-2 Years	\$100,699.91	\$48.23	\$3,858.23
	0-1 Year	\$95,105.47	\$45.55	\$3,643.89
	2 Plus Years	\$106,294.35	\$50.91	\$4,072.58
Civilian Forensic Technician	1-2 Years	\$100,699.91	\$48.23	\$3,858.23
	0-1 Year	\$95,105.47	\$45.55	\$3,643.89
		• · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Surveillance	2 Plus Years	\$106,294.35	\$50.91	\$4,072.58
Technician	1-2 Years	\$100,699.91	\$48.23	\$3,858.23
	0-1 Year	\$95,105.47	\$45.55	\$3,643.89
	2 Plus Years	\$106,294.35	\$50.91	\$4,072.58
Cybercrime Specialist	1-2 Years	\$100,699.91	\$48.23	\$3,858.23
	0-1 Year	\$95,105.47	\$45.55	\$3,643.89
		\$00 544 00	¢ 40.07	¢0,400,54
	3 Plus	\$89,511.03	\$42.87	\$3,429.54
Functional Analyst	2-3 Years 1-2 Years	\$83,916.60 \$78,322.16	\$40.19 \$37.51	\$3,215.20 \$3,000.85
	0-1 Year	\$72,727.72	\$34.83	\$3,000.85
	0-1 Teal	φ/2,/2/./2	φ 34.0 3	φ2,780.50
Training and	0-1 Year	\$92,340.51	\$44.22	\$3,537.95
Curriculum Consultant	1+ Years	\$96,957.54	\$46.44	\$3,714.85
	2+ Years	\$72,727.72	\$34.83	\$2,786.50
Intercept Monitor	1-2 Years	\$61,538.84	\$29.47	\$2,357.81
	0-1 Year	\$55,944.40	\$26.79	\$2,143.46
Part Time ERC			\$28.61	
Part Time Booking			\$28.61	

Vacation Entitlements - Sworn	48 hour work week	40 hour work week**
0 - 1 years	8 hrs/month	8 hrs/month
1 - 5 years	2 cycles - 96 hours	3 weeks – 120 hours
6 - 10 years	3 cycles 144 hours	4 weeks - 160 hours
11 - 15 years	4 cycles - 192 hours	5 weeks - 200 hours
16 - 24 years	5 cycles - 240 hours	6 weeks - 240 hours
25 plus years	6 cycles - 288 hours	7 weeks - 280 hours

Schedule D Vacation Entitlements

	2020		2021			2022	
Year of Hire	Service*	Service*	Service*	Entitlement	Service*	Entitlement	
Pre-1990	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	
1990	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	
1991	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	
1992	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	
1993	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	
1994	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	
1995	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	
1996	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	
1997	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	
1998	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	
1999	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	
2000	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	
2001	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	
2002	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	
2003	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	
2004	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	
2005	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	
2006	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	
2007	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks	
2008	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks	
2009	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks	
2010	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks	
2011	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks	
2012	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks	
2013	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks	
2014	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks	
2015	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks	
2016	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks	
2017	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks	
2018	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks	
2019	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks	
2020	0-1	8 hours/month	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks	
2021			0-1	8 hours/month	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks	
2022					0-1	8 hours/month	
2023						-	
2024							

		2023		2024		
Year of Hire	Service*	Service*	Service*	Entitlement		
Pre-1990	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks		
1990	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks		
1991	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks		
1992	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks		
1993	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks		
1994	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks		
1995	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks		
1996	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks		
1997	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks		
1998	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks		
1999	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	25+	6 cycles/7 weeks		
2000	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks		
2001	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks		
2002	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks		
2003	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks		
2004	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks		
2005	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks		
2006	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks		
2007	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks		
2008	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks	16-24	5 cycles/6 weeks		
2009	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks		
2010	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks		
2011	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks		
2012	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks		
2013	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks	11-15	4 cycles/5 weeks		
2014	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks		
2015	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks		
2016	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks		
2017	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks		
2018	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks	6-10	3 cycles/4 weeks		
2019	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks		
2020	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks		
2021	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks		
2022	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks		
2023	0-1	8 hours/month	1-5	2 cycles/3 weeks		
2024			0-1	8 hours/month		

Schedule E Service Pay Entitlements (2020-2024)

Date	Service Pay				
of Hire	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024
Pre-1992	\$2,000	\$2,000	\$2,250	\$2,500	\$2,500
1992	\$2,000	\$2,000	\$2,250	\$2,500	\$2,500
1993	\$2,000	\$2,000	\$2,250	\$2,500	\$2,500
1994	\$2,000	\$2,000	\$2,250	\$2,500	\$2,500
1995	\$2,000	\$2,000	\$2,250	\$2,500	\$2,500
1996	\$2,000	\$2,000	\$2,250	\$2,500	\$2,500
1997	\$1,500	\$2,000	\$2,250	\$2,500	\$2,500
1998	\$1,500	\$1,500	\$2,250	\$2,500	\$2,500
1999	\$1,500	\$1,500	\$1,750	\$2,500	\$2,500
2000	\$1,500	\$1,500	\$1,750	\$2,000	\$2,500
2001	\$1,500	\$1,500	\$1,750	\$2,000	\$2,000
2002		\$1,500	\$1,750	\$2,000	\$2,000
2003			\$1,750	\$2,000	\$2,000
2004				\$2,000	\$2,000
2005					\$2,000
2006					
2007					
2008					
2009					
2010					
2011					
2012					
2013					
2014					
2015					
2016					
2017					
2018					
2019					
2020					

Memorandum of Agreement #1 - Job Share Pilot Project

Between Halifax Regional Municipality (HRM)

And

Halifax Regional Police Association (HRPA)

- Whereas: The parties have agreed to a pilot project commencing on the signing of this Collective Agreement to determine the feasibility of job sharing of positions in the HRPA bargaining unit commencing on the signing of this Collective Agreement and ending on March 30, 2024. [2020]
- Whereas: Job sharing means an alternative work arrangement whereby the duties and responsibilities of a full-time position are shared by two employees each working part-time.

The parties agree as follows:

1. Eligibility:

- 1. The job share pilot project will be limited to the following positions:
 - i. Emergency Response Communicators on the 12 hour shift in IES
 - ii. 1st Class Constables on the 12 hour shift in Patrol
- 2. Interested participants must apply for the job share pilot project as a group of two employees interested in sharing one job.
- 3. Employees must have completed four years of service in their classification to be eligible for job share.
- 4. The two job sharing partners in IES must have at least two matching skill sets (for example Police and Fire dispatch trained) in order to be eligible to participate.
- 5. Each job share request will be considered on a case by case basis with the final decision at the sole discretion of the Chief or designate; none will be approved with a term of less than six (6) months
- 6. When two employees job-share a full-time position, the position shall continue to be identified as a full-time position.
- 7. Employees under a job sharing agreement shall be entitled to all benefits under the Collective Agreement available to regular employees, with the exception of those benefits that are prorated as identified within this MOU.

2. Hours of Work:

1. The 48 hour shift cycle will be divided into days and nights. The employees in the job share will either work the two days or two nights. The two employees will determine their schedule and provide to their Supervisor 14 days in advance. For example, Employee A will work the day shift and Employee B will work the night shift, and then will switch after six months.

3. Work Assignment:

1. The work assignment of the job share participants will be as follows:

a. Constables:

- (i) The two job sharing partners will work on the same watch and division.
- (ii) The two job sharing partners will work for the same Sergeant and share the same work queue.
- (iii) The two job sharing partners will pick their divisional work assignment for the calendar year based on the seniority level of the most senior employee in the job share arrangement.
- b. **Emergency Response Communicators**: The two job sharing partners will work on the same watch and report to the same Supervisor.
- 2. The parties agree that some movement of employees may be required to facilitate a job share agreement. The Employer will attempt to create the least disruption possible when making such moves. Any such movements will be discussed with the union prior to taking effect.

4. Accrual of Service & Leave Entitlements:

- 1. Employees will continue to accrue full service and seniority during the job share pilot project.
- 2. Vacation, sick leave, shift adjustment leave and statutory holiday leave will be prorated while in a job share.
- 3. Employees in a job share will select their leave dates separately based on their individual level of seniority.
- If one job share participant is on vacation, holiday or shift adjustment leave during a cycle, this will not count as an employee on leave towards the maximum number of employees allowed off.
- 5. If both job share participants are on vacation, holiday or shift adjustment leave during a cycle, this will count as 1 employee on leave towards the maximum number of employees allowed off.
- 6. Time lost due to injury, illness, bereavement or other leave will be compensated based on the job share employee's scheduled hours of work and not full-time hours.

7. Job share partners will continue their participation in the Pension [2020]

5. Overtime:

- Overtime will be triggered based on the wording of Article 8(2) of the Collective Agreement: "For employees on a twelve (12) hour work schedule, the Employer shall pay an overtime rate of one and one-half (1½) the regular hourly rate of pay for all hours worked after twelve (12) hours in any one day."
- 2. Days off as listed in Article 8(3) will be the days off associated with the watch to which the job share partners are assigned.
- 3. Unless there are extenuating circumstances, employees in a job share agreement will not be called in to work overtime when their job share partner is working their regularly scheduled shift. For example, if Employee A is working the two day shifts and Employee B is working the two night shifts, Employee A will not be called in to work the night shifts unless there are extenuating circumstances.
- 4. Unless there are extenuating circumstances, both employees in a job share agreement shall not work overtime on the same day.

6. Court Time:

1. The job share partner assigned to the day shifts who is required to attend court between their cycle's night shifts will be eligible for the compensation outlined in Article 17(3). The job share partner assigned to the night shifts will not be released from work at midnight the previous night.

7. Group Medical Benefits:

1. Entitlement to health and wellness benefits shall be determined by the Plan Administrator.

8. Termination of Job Share:

- 1. Job share agreements can be ended for any reason by two job sharing partners or the Employer. 30 days' notice is required in either case.
- 2. Job share agreements will come to an end within 30 days (or other such period as agreed to by the Employer and the job share partners) in the event that one of the job share partners:
 - a. Is promoted; or
 - b. Is transferred; or
 - c. Is injured, sick, suspended, on modified duties or otherwise out of the workplace for a period expected to last in excess of 30 days; or
 - d. Resigns, retires or otherwise leaves HRM's employment

9. Conclusion of Job Share Pilot Project:

- 1. During the pilot project, any unanticipated issues that arise will be discussed and resolved between the Employer and the union.
- 2. At the conclusion of the pilot project, the parties will meet and review the success of the job share program.
- In the absence of agreement by the parties to continue the program, this MOA will expire on March 30, 2024 and all job share agreements in place shall cease on that date.
 [2020]

Memorandum of Agreement #2 – Sergeant Leave Selection

Between

Halifax Regional Municipality (HRM)

And

Halifax Regional Police Association (HRPA)

The Parties agree to create a working group to reach an agreement on how Sergeant Patrol leave selection should be conducted. The Working Group will include three (3) representatives chosen by the Region and three (3) representatives chosen by the Union.

The Parties agree to meet within sixty (60) days of the signing of the 2020 to 2024 collective agreement. If an agreement on Sergeant Patrol leave selection cannot be reached, either party may require the matter be submitted to one of the following for assistance:

- Bruce Archibald
- Susan Ashley
- Scott Sterns

The Parties shall agree upon the Mediator and if they are unable to agree then they shall select "one name out of a hat". The Mediator shall meet with the parties on agreed upon dates to assist the parties in the resolve of the matter.

Memorandum of Understanding - Diversity, Equity and Inclusion

Between

Halifax Regional Municipality (HRM)

And

Halifax Regional Police Association (HRPA)

The Employer and the Union are committed to a workplace that is free of discrimination, values diversity and is representative of the people of Halifax Regional Municipality. The Union and Employer may, by mutual agreement, agree that job postings be restricted to aboriginal peoples, racially visible persons, persons with disabilities, women and men in non-traditional roles and members of the 2SLBGTQ+ community. Agreement shall not be unreasonably denied by either party to this agreement.

Furthermore, the parties agree to set up a joint committee within 60 days of the signing of this (2020 - 2024) collective agreement who will focus on identifying barriers to success for diverse employees and making recommendations for improvement to the Chief of Police or their designate. The committee will be comprised of three (3) representatives from the Union and three (3) representatives from the Employer who will work together to establish the terms of reference. [2020]